





FINAL REPORT: Moving towards gender equitable public transport operations in a post COVID-19 world

COVID-19 Response & Recovery Transport Research Fund

April 2021 HVT029.L1L101 – Sonal Shah





This research was funded by UKAID through the UK Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office under the High-Volume Transport Applied Research Programme, managed by IMC Worldwide.

The views expressed in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the UK government's official policies, nor those of any individuals and organisations referred to in this report.

IMC Worldwide Ltd, the HVT Programme and the UK government shall not assume any responsibility for the results of works based on the use of this report. Users accept this publication is a guidance document only. Users accept that they need to take their own technical and legal advice before issuing Agreements, Terms and Conditions and other legally binding documentation related to implementing any recommendations.

Reference No.	HVT029.L1L101
Lead Organisation	Sonal Shah
Partner Organisation(s)/ Consultant(s)	Abhijit Lokre, Sutanu Pati, Devangi Ramakrishnan
Title	Moving towards gender equitable public transport operations in a post COVID- 19 world
Type of document	Project Report
Theme	Urban transport
Sub-theme	Gender, COVID-19, public transport, paratransit
Author(s)	Sonal Shah, Rithvika Rajiv, Abhijit Lokre
Lead contact	Sonal Shah, The Urban Catalysts
Geographical Location(s)	India
Abstract	
While public transportation systems are being resumed with curtailed services, lower occupancy, disinfection of vehicles, contactless ticketing, online reservation of seats and fare increases post COVID-19 lockdown, there is limited data on the effect that these measures have had on women's access, safety and perception of safety. This research aims to understand the impact of COVID-19 on the mobility of women with respect to bus-based transportation and provide emergency as well as long-term recommendations for gender responsive, safe and secure public bus transportation in Delhi, with relevance for other cities in India and LICs in South Asia.	
Keywords	Public transport, urban transport, paratransit, COVID-19, gender, South Asia, Delhi, India
Funding	UKAid/ FCDO
	We are grateful to Jasmine Shah, Vice-chairperson of the Dialogue and Development Commission, Government of Delhi for support in the research.

We appreciate the support by Jeff Turner, technical lead for this project, our

project advisors, reviewers and experts from India and globally.

Acknowledgements

Cover Photo Credit: The Urban Catalysts

CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	vii
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Alignment with HVT and FCDO research themes, priorities, and programme objectives	2
2. Methodology	4
2.1 Summary of approach and innovation	4
2.2 Methodology and activities undertaken	5
3. Findings from the literature review, online round table and key informant interviews	16
3.1 Literature review	16
3.2 Online round table	20
3.3 Key informant interviews	22
4. Quantitative data findings	27
4.1 Survey analysis of resource poor women	27
4.2 Survey analysis of paratransit drivers	43
5. Recommendations and policy implications	54
5.1 Partner with working women's unions and membership-based organisations (MBOs)	54
5.2 Improve digital literacy of resource poor women	54
5.3 Create a dedicated team for women's safety in the Command-and-Control Centre (CCC)	55
5.4 Provide a multimodal mobility subsidy	55
5.5 Improve reliability and seat availability in buses	55
5.6 Increase electric vehicle adoption amongst resource poor women	56
5.7 Learnings for cities in South Asia	58
6. Research uptake and next steps	59
6.1 Project outputs	59
6.2 Research uptake and dissemination activities	59

APPENDICES

Appendix A: References	60
Appendix B: Work plan	71
Appendix C: Acknowledgements	72

TABLES

Table 1: Research activities	5
Table 2: Online round table participants	6
Table 3: Key informant Interviewees	7
Table 4: Bus stops for passenger counts	7
Table 5: Sampling and stratification for telephone surveys	10
Table 6: Selected bus stops and settlements for survey of RPW	12
Table 7: Paratransit vehicles in Delhi	14
Table 8: City populations and main modes of transport	16
Table 9: Current operational characteristics of male paratransit operators	44

Table 10: Comparison of male and female operated e-rickshaws	44
Table 11: Revenue lost due to COVID-19 (INR)	50
Table 12: Recommendations to improve mobility and access for RPW	54
Table 13: Virtual workshop panellists	59

FIGURES

Figure 1: Survey locations, SEWA Shakti Kendras, and locations of home-based workers	ix
Figure 2: Research Methodology	5
Figure 3: Bus stops for passenger counts	9
Figure 4: Locations for telephone surveys	11
Figure 5: Survey distribution	13
Figure 6: Survey locations for paratransit vehicles	15
Figure 7: Age groups	28
Figure 8: Marital status	28
Figure 9: Head of household	28
Figure 10: Number of members in household	28
Figure 11: Number of earning members	29
Figure 12:Religion	29
Figure 13: Caste	29
Figure 14: Education	29
Figure 15: Occupation	29
Figure 16: Possession of ID cards	30
Figure 17: Possession of bank accounts	30
Figure 18: Individual income (INR)	30
Figure 19: Household monthly income (INR)	30
Figure 20: Household vehicle ownership	31
Figure 21: Household vehicles for personal use	31
Figure 22: Working hours	31
Figure 23: Working days	32
Figure 24: Hours spent on household and care work	32
Figure 25: Days spent on household and care work per week	32
Figure 26: Type of phone	33
Figure 27: Switch off data while travelling	33
Figure 28: Phone usage	33
Figure 29: Phone usage and know how	33
Figure 30: Frequency of use of DTC app	34
Figure 31: Frequency of use of Chartr app	34
Figure 32: Frequency of trips by days per week	34
	ii

Figure 33: Travel purpose	34
Figure 34: Travel mode	35
Figure 35: First/last mile connectivity	35
Figure 36: Intermediate stops	35
Figure 37: Trip mode by time and RPW passengers	36
Figure 38: Trip mode by time and OSR passengers	36
Figure 39: Travel duration (minutes)	37
Figure 40: Travel cost per month (INR)	37
Figure 41: Share of travel costs as a percentage of monthly income	37
Figure 42: Trip purpose pre-COVID-19	38
Figure 43: Waiting time pre-COVID-19 and currently (minutes)	38
Figure 44: Reasons for increased waiting time for buses	39
Figure 45: Waiting time for paratransit (minutes)	39
Figure 46: Next preferred mode	40
Figure 47: Waiting time (minutes)	40
Figure 48: Average travel time per trip (minutes)	41
Figure 49: Average travel cost per trip (INR)	41
Figure 50: Concerns regarding bus-based travel	42
Figure 51: Concerns regarding paratransit travel	43
Figure 52: Paratransit vehicle routes	46
Figure 53: Caste	47
Figure 54: Possession of government ID cards	47
Figure 55: Working hours per day	48
Figure 56: Effective working days in a month	48
Figure 57: Change in vehicle trips and ridership per day	49
Figure 58 Average revenue per month (INR)	49
Figure 59: Average operating expenses per month (INR)	50
Figure 60: Process and cost of becoming a Vahini	52

ACRONYMS

AC	Air conditioned
AFD	Agence Française de Développement
ATM	Automated teller machines
BPL	Below Poverty Line
BRTA	Bangladesh Road Transport Authority
CAD	Canadian Dollar
CANN	Clean Air Network Nepal
ССС	Command and control centre
CCTV	Closed-circuit television
CEN	Clean Energy Nepal
CSOs	Civil Society Organisations
DDCD	Dialogue and Development Commission of Delhi
DIMTS	Delhi Integrated Multi Modal Transit System
DTC	Delhi Transport Corporation
EMI	Equated Monthly Instalment
ETA	Expected time of arrival
FCDO	Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office
FNNTE	Federation of Nepal National Transportation Entrepreneurs
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GIS	Geographic Information System
GIZ	Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit
GPS	Global Positioning System
GNCTD	Government of the National Capital Territory of Delhi
GTFS	General Transit Feed Specification
HVT	High Volume Transport Applied Research Programme
ICT	Information and communications technology
ILO	International Labour Organisation



IMC	IMC Worldwide Ltd
INR	Indian Rupee
IPT	Intermediate Public Transport
ISST	Institute of Social Studies Trust
ITS	Intelligent Transportation System
ITDP	Institute for Transportation and Development Policy
IUT	Institute of Urban Transport
JICA	Japan International Cooperation Agency
JJ bastis	Jhuggi Jhopri bastis
KfW	KfW Development Bank
KML	Keyhole Markup Language
LIC	Low-income country
LMICs	Low- and lower-middle-income countries
LOV	Low occupancy vehicle
MBO	Membership based organisations
MoPIT	Ministry of Physical Infrastructure and Transport, Nepal
NCT	National Capital Territory
NUTP	National Urban Transport Policy
OSR	Online survey respondents
PCTR	Per Capita Trip Rate
PGMS	Public Grievance Monitoring system
PIS	Passenger Information System
РМБРК	Pradhan Mantri Garib Kalyan Package
PMJDY	Pradhan Mantri Jan-Dhan Yojana
PNT	People near Transit
PTS	Penn Thozhilalargal Sangam
RPW	Resource poor women
SC/ST	Scheduled caste/ Scheduled Tribe

SEWA	All India Federation of Self-Employed Women's Association
SMS	Short Message Service
SOP	Standard operating procedures
ТоТ	Training of Trainers
VGF	Viability gap funding
WFPR	Workforce participation rate
WIEGO	Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing
WRI	World Resources Institute

GLOSSARY

Informal sector	As defined by the international Labour Organisation "all remunerative work (i.e., both self-employment and wage employment) that is not registered, regulated, or protected by existing legal or regulatory frameworks, as well as non-remunerative work undertaken in an income- producing enterprise. Informal workers do not have secure employment contracts, workers' benefits, social protection or workers' representation" (148). Poor women workers in the informal sector as referred to as resource poor women in this study.
Intermediate public transport / Paratransit	Intermediate public transport (IPT) or paratransit refers to demand- driven, often unscheduled and flexible public transport services provided by small operators in small to medium-sized motorised or non-motorised vehicles, generally under the lack of effective regulatory frameworks (149). Paratransit in Delhi includes auto-rickshaws, Gramin Sewa, Phat Phat Sewa, and e-rickshaws among others.

1 United States Dollar = 73.56 Indian Rupees

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Purpose

The pandemic and the subsequent lockdowns implemented by governments across the world had severe economic and social repercussions. World over, women are grappling with a triple burden of loss in incomes, increased care and domestic work and an escalation of domestic violence (1). COVID-19 has disproportionately affected women workers in the informal economy (2).The International Labour Organisation (3) reports that 1.3 billion people work informally in Asia and the Pacific, which constitutes 65% of the world's informal employment. 7 in 10 workers in developing Asia are in the informal economy. Over 92% and 84.5% of women in low- and lower-middle-income countries (LMICs), are in informal employment.

In South Asia, countries such as Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Pakistan, and Nepal announced lockdowns that restricted public transportation services. The nature of public transportation permitted during the lockdown differed by state and country. For example, while Kabul, Afghanistan announced a lock down, they permitted public transport vehicles carrying less than four passengers (4). In India, all modes of transport - road, rail and air were suspended except for the transportation of essential goods. Post lockdown as restrictions eased, public transport resumed with curtailed services, reduced passenger capacity to encourage physical distancing and fare increases in private buses and paratransit.

Mobility is vital for the economic recovery of resource poor women (RPW) workers, as they are dependent on public transport, paratransit, and walking. The loss in incomes due to the pandemic, need to sustain their households has compelled RPW to resume work. However, there is limited awareness of the impacts of COVID-19 on women's mobility amongst decision makers and transport policy influencers in LMICs. The impact of modified bus operations, increased fares on RPW's mobility and access are not understood. Similarly, digitalisation of public transport has not acknowledged the gender divide in the access to ICT technology.

Our research aims to fills this gap. We provide evidence and fast track knowledge uptake to understand the impacts of COVID-19 on RPW's mobility, inform policy guidance and responses on addressing gender equity in public transport. The research includes a deep dive in Delhi (India), with learnings for LMICs in South Asia.

Methodology of research

A mixed methods approach with qualitative and quantitative data was used for this study. We conducted a review of grey and published literature on women's mobility and public transportation in the pre- and post-COVID-19 scenario in Delhi (India), Kabul (Afghanistan), Dhaka (Bangladesh), Kathmandu (Nepal) and Lahore (Pakistan). Due to the paucity of information, this was supplemented with an online round table with 18 participants from feminist networks, unions and collectives from the above-mentioned cities in South Asia.

The literature review and online round table indicated that paratransit is a dominant mode of public transport in the four South Asian cities of Kabul, Dhaka, Kathmandu, and Lahore. Buses were crowded, with poor connectivity in the periphery of cities, and sexual harassment was a major deterrent in women's use of public transport. Afghanistan, Bangladesh, India, Nepal, and Pakistan had launched women only buses, but received poor patronage.

During the lockdown and post lockdown phases, the curtailed bus services and restricted carrying capacity resulted in no assurance of seat availability, crowding and reduced physical distancing at bus stops, and inability to board. Fare hikes in private bus services and paratransit in Bangladesh, Nepal and Afghanistan created affordability concerns for RPW. Women experienced longer waiting times for buses and were compelled to use paratransit, even if it is more expensive.

These findings from the literature review and online round table were used to conduct ten key informant interviews with decision makers, transport policy influencers, academics and women's unions in India. The aim was to increase awareness of the impact of the lockdown on women, as well as obtain their perspectives on the challenges and opportunities of COVID-19 in ensuring gender equity, safety and security for RPW in public transport.

The key informant interviews encouraged us to explore RPW's dependence on paratransit due to their travel in off-peak hours of bus services, inadequate bus fleets and occupational specificity. Women suffered from a

pink tax - the additional cost incurred due to their travel during off peak hours of public transport services. The perimeter of RPW's employment opportunities was limited by their access [or lack of] to public transport, in the absence of a personal motor vehicle. Additionally, the mobility pattern of a woman working in the formal sector was different from that in the informal sector, as the latter may optimise her trip in terms of cost. These findings informed our survey design.

We conducted telephone surveys (822) and online surveys (400) to understand how RPW and other women workers travelled and the impact of COVID-19 on their employment and mobility. The telephone surveys were conducted from 23 locations across different types of settlements (urban villages, JJ clusters, informal settlements, resettlement colonies) across Delhi. Additionally, thirty face-to-face surveys were conducted with male paratransit operators to understand their operations in the pre- and post-COVID scenario. These surveys were validated with published literature sources (5). Bus counts were also conducted in 22 locations in Delhi to assess women's ridership in public transport.

We partnered with Self Employed Women's Association (SEWA), a membership-based organisation with 1.9 million members across 17 states in India, to conduct eight in-depth interviews with RPW workers. The goal was to understand their travel in buses after the introduction of the free ride scheme, experiences during the lockdown and after. SEWA also facilitated in-depth interviews with five female e-rickshaw operators (or Vahinis), who are part of their pilot to encourage women owner-operators.

The findings from the surveys were situated within Delhi's and national context to suggest recommendations. Our recommendations were refined with feedback from social policy, finance and technology experts, and public transport operators.

Key findings from in-depth study of RPW in Delhi

Women's workforce participation, public transport connectivity and bus services

Delhi has a lower female work force participation rate (WFPR) (13.9 %) compared to the rest of urban India (16.1 %) (6). A spatial analysis of female WFPR overlapped with bus routes revealed a lower WFPR with reduction in public bus connectivity. This could suggest a relationship between the two, among other factors, indicating a further line of research inquiry. According to DTC and DIMTS, Delhi witnessed increase in female bus ridership from 21 % in 2011 to 29 % in 2019. This increased further to 37 %-40 % after the introduction of the free bus ride scheme.

Lockdown and mobility restrictions in Delhi due to the COVID-19 pandemic

Between 24th March 2020 and 31st May 2020, the Government of India declared a national lockdown, grounding all public transportation networks and restricting the outdoor movement of people. By May 17th, as restrictions eased in the third phase of lockdown, Delhi began operating buses at 50% fleet strength. By November 2020, during the fourth phase of lockdown, all buses began plying with full seating capacity.



Figure 1: Survey locations, SEWA Shakti Kendras, and locations of home-based workers

Data sources: JJ Bastis (7); Urban villages (8); Resettlement colonies (9); SEWA Shakti Kendras (10) Home based workers (11); District boundary (12); Ward boundary (13)

79% of RPW in Delhi did not work in the 68 days of the lockdown and have lost an estimated INR 754 crores in incomes

The literature review indicates that 83% of RPW workers in Delhi suffered a major loss in income (15). Domestic workers reported a decline in the number of houses they are able to work in, street vendors reported drop in earnings due to closure of markets and reduction in customers (11). Our surveys among RPW workers indicate that while 79% of them did not work during the lockdown, the daily hours they spent on household and care activities increased by 28%, from 3 to 5 hours daily. Overall, we estimated a loss of INR 754 crores during the 68 days of lockdown for RPW in Delhi.

Travel patterns of women indicate that they make negligible or few non-work trips currently

The per capita trip rate (PCTR) of RPW in December 2020 was 1.9, with 99% of trips for work purposes. Similarly, 97% of all trips undertaken by online survey respondents were also work related. This indicates that working women in Delhi were not travelling for leisure or other purposes in the current pandemic.

Travel patterns of resource poor women differ from women of other income groups, highlighting the need for differentiated strategies to achieve equity in gender responsive public transport

Bus travel accounts for 81% of trips made by RPW. The peak travel time for RPW is between 11am-12pm in the morning and 2-3pm in the afternoon, accounting for 11.8% and 11.6% of their daily trips, respectively. This differs for online survey respondents (OSR), whose peak travel hours are between 9-10 am and 5-6 pm. Paratransit accounts for 57% of trips by RPW during these peak hours. This could imply either poor bus frequency during off-peak hours, or that the destinations to which RPW travel are not served by buses. Paratransit is the next preferred mode for 86% of RPW, with over two-thirds preferring shared Intermediate public transport (IPT)/ e-rickshaws/ Gramin Sewas.

RPW's concerns regarding bus-based travel (in December 2020) persisted from a pre-COVID-19 scenario (November 2019). Their three major concerns currently were that buses did not halt for them (21%), no enforcement of reserved seats for women (17%) and poor frequency of services (16% currently). While there was an increase in women's bus ridership, RPW also stated that buses did not stop for them after the free ride scheme. The biggest difference was that 7% of RPW expressed crowding in buses as a concern compared to 21% pre-COVID-19.

Conversely, the major concerns for the online survey respondents in the December 2020 were lack of information on the real time arrival of buses (21%), poor frequency of services (20%) and long queues at bus stops and inability to board the bus (18%). This was also consistent with their concerns regarding bus-based travel pre-COVID-19.

The surveys suggest that safety concerns, related to physical distancing and sexual harassment were not as significant as those mentioned above.

COVID-19 technology responses in public transport leave resource poor women behind

The Delhi government has initiated multiple applications like One Delhi and Chartr to provide real time information on buses and enable contactless ticketing. However, only 10% of RPW have access to a personal or shared smartphone. Around three-fourths of RPW use phones to make and receive calls and/or send SMS. Only five percent use phones to browse the internet, while nine percent access social media/ WhatsApp. Further, only 2% of them know how to make digital payments, in contrast to 58% of online survey respondents. This indicates a substantial impediment in improving RPW's access to public transport in a post-COVID-19 world, where real time information (RTI) and contactless ticketing are being initiated to maintain physical distancing.

Fall in number of passengers result in severe economic loss for IPT service providers

Male paratransit operators witnessed a reduction in passengers in the current pandemic. We estimated a loss of INR 1,741 crores in revenue for 200,000 registered vehicles in the nine months from 24th March 2020-24th December 2020. Their operating expenses in December 2020 ranged from 28 to 56% of their gross revenue, which was higher than their pre-COVID-19 reported operational expenses (24 to 51% of their gross revenue).

Female e-rickshaw owner-operators (Vahinis) earn less than their male counterparts due to a safety, household and care tax

The surveyed Vahinis began operations during the pandemic with support from SEWA and SMV Green Solutions. We observed that their routes were 46% shorter, worked at least 2.5 hours lesser in a day due to household and care work, had 27% fewer passengers and earned 28% lesser than male paratransit operators. The reduced operating hours and passengers can be attributed to a safety, household, and care tax, which must be addressed through policy interventions.

Recommendations for gender equitable transport in Delhi

The recommendations include cross-cutting themes, followed by a focus on bus-based public transport and paratransit.

Partner with women's unions and membership-based organisations (MBOs)

MBOs, unions and civil society organisations have played a critical role in advocating for affordable housing, basic services and safer public spaces for resource poor women. Transport departments must create and maintain a database of these organisations and collaborate with them when devising transport policies. Simultaneously, these groups can also become effective channels to disseminate information across a wider network of women and facilitate effective implementation of public transport schemes and initiatives.

Improve digital literacy of resource poor women

A Training of Trainers (ToT) model can be adopted where transport think tanks can partner with membershipbased organisations to train community mobilisers and volunteers on using the Chartr application, navigating Google Maps, making digital payments amongst others. These mobilisers and volunteers can teach resource poor women and girls (with access to a smartphone) in their communities.

Create a dedicated team for women's safety in the command-and-control centre (CCC)

The Transport Department is in the process of inaugurating a command-and-control centre (CCC) for women's safety. It will address all complaints related to SOS buttons in buses and monitor CCTV footage in buses and at bus stops. The CCC can integrate multiple channels (helplines, websites, SOS alerts) for registering and responding to women's complaints, such as buses not halting at scheduled stops, enforcement of seat reservation, sexual harassment in buses, bus stops and in paratransit (17).

Provide a multimodal mobility subsidy for resource poor women

Resource poor women lose a considerable amount of their daily income as they are engaged in household and care activities. COVID-19 has amplified their economic loss and research suggests that women are disproportionately affected during economic crises. Resource poor women have consistently highlighted the issue of poor frequency of bus services and seat availability. While the Delhi Transport Department is in the process of augmenting its bus fleet, we propose a multi mobility subsidy for resource poor women workers in the interim to enable their mobility through multiple modes. A monthly cash transfer of INR 600 is recommended based on their travel for work trips. The resource poor women beneficiaries can be identified based on multiple proxy databases, starting with Pradhan Mantri Jan-Dhan Yojana¹ (PMJDY) bank account holders, registered construction workers, street vendors and eventually expand to all women with ration cards.

Improve reliability and seat availability in buses

A free SMS based real time information (RTI) system for buses must be created, which can co-exist with the proposed passenger information boards at bus stops and the Chartr application. Such a system will allow 90% of resource poor women (without access to smart phones) to receive information on the estimated arrival time of buses.

The Transport Department should consider implementing a policy for women-only-doors, such that women can board from the front doors and access reserved seats. Additionally, it can increase awareness on the presence of bus marshals.

Increase adoption of electric vehicles amongst resource poor women

¹ PMJDY was launched by the Government of India under the national mission for financial inclusion to ensure universal access to banking facilities

Women-operated e-rickshaws can be encouraged as a gender and climate sensitive mode of paratransit to improve the reach and connectivity of public transport, create employment for resource poor women, and support the Delhi government in achieving its goals of the Electric Vehicle (EV) policy.

We collaborated with SEWA and SMV Green Solutions to propose financial and procedural reforms to Delhi's EV Policy (2020) to increase adoption of e-rickshaws amongst resource poor women. We recommend that the Delhi Government implement a pilot project in partnership with MBOs and their financial institutions to mobilise resource poor women. The pilot project can include financial incentives such as providing an upfront subsidy and increasing the amount to INR 50,000². This will reduce equated monthly instalments (EMIs) by 53%, with estimated savings of around INR 130,000 over a 34-month loan period for each Vahini. Additionally, we recommend the following actions by different agencies:

- The Transport Department can introduce targeted skilling opportunities for resource poor women, waive license fees and subsidise charging fees for Vahinis at public parking lots. The license process for women drivers can be eased through a single window system at the Regional Transport Office;
- The Delhi Metro-rail Corporation can reserve spaces for Vahinis in well-lit and visible locations at metrorail stations, and mandate that first and last mile connectivity paratransit fleets include a share of womenoperated vehicles;
- Traffic Police must reconsider e-rickshaw restrictions on major roads in Delhi;
- The Delhi Development Authority must plan, develop creches/ Integrated Child Development Service centres within the framework of the multi-purpose centres recommended by the Main Bhi Dilli Campaign, for the Master Plan of Delhi 2041;
- Finally, MBOs can initiate partnerships with schools and aggregators such as SmartE to augment ridership.

Learnings for cities in South Asia

These recommendations, while framed within the context of Delhi are relevant for the urban local bodies and the provincial/ state-level transport departments in LMICs in South Asia. These include:

- Partnerships between women's membership-based organisations, unions and transport authorities;
- Provision of a mobility subsidy as direct cash transfers to resource poor women;
- A dedicated team to address sexual harassment complaints across different modes of transport in relevant urban local bodies;
- Encourage women paratransit owner-operators through financial and procedural reforms and safety mechanisms;
- Frame equitable mobility as a constitutional right;

Capacity building of women's departments, membership-based organisations and unions, urban development and transport authorities and increasing number of gender experts.

Conclusion

Gender inequities in public transport became more acute with the advent of the pandemic. However, it also represents a unique opportunity to build back better. In the context of the pandemic, we need to acknowledge the most vulnerable voices, work from a ground up and top-down approach to create a more inclusive, and green recovery model for urban transport.

² The additional amount could be provided by the Women and Child Development Department.

1. Introduction

There are approximately two billion informal workers in the world (18) of which 37% (740 million) are women (19). While 58% of women in the labour force are in informal employment globally, a higher share of women (92%) in developing countries are in informal employment. In India, 90% of women workers are informally employed compared to 88% of men (20). Women's participation in the labour force is hampered by socio-economic constraints such as gender role conformity, work-life balance, marital status and lack of transportation (21).

The transport imperative

In emerging countries, the lack of access to transportation is the biggest barrier lowering women's probability of labour force participation by 16.5 percentage points (21). A study in Lima found a positive correlation between proximity to public transportation systems, employment rates, increased earnings and work hours (22).

Women's travel patterns tend to be more complex, involving trip chaining and multiple purposes(23). The gendered differences in mobility are starkly apparent in low-income countries (LICs) (24). Urban marginalised women often do not own private vehicles as family vehicles are traditionally for the use of male members in resource constrained settings (25). Women thus tend to walk or are dependent on public transportation such as buses and informal transportation such as shared auto-rickshaws and e-rickshaws (26).

Lower income women prefer public transport and prioritise better coverage, affordability and frequency, in contrast to higher income women, for whom public transport is the least preferred mode of transport(27). Affordability (26) and increased transportation costs are likely to restrict the geographic range of employment opportunities (28). As the earning capacity of informal workers is by and large lower than those in the formal sector (20), higher transportation costs may disproportionately affect them. For example, inhabitants residing in informal settlements at the periphery of the city tend to spend a larger share of their income on transportation. They restrict their trip distances to minimise travel expenditure, suggesting a linkage between mobility and livelihoods (26). Studies suggest that the per capita income savings of informal settlements inhabitants is more sensitive to accessibility with respect to transportation than employment opportunities (26).

A study in Delhi observed that women bear a higher burden of unpaid household and care work, in addition to using slower modes of transport, compelling them to seek flexible employment opportunities closer to home (25,29). Lack of access to public transport due to the above mentioned issues combined with the threat of sexual harassment in public transportation translates to lack of access to social, recreational and economic activities for women (25). As information availability, dissemination and payments are shifting to digital platforms, women are being left behind due to the gendered digital divide and women's lack of access to mobile phones (30).

Within this context, the COVID-19 pandemic has significantly impacted over 1.6 billion informal workers (31), and imposed a triple burden on women - loss in incomes, exacerbation of time poverty due to increased household and care work and domestic violence (19). Globally, women informal workers not only witnessed a decline in earnings by 60% in the first month of the pandemic (19), but were also overrepresented in high risk sectors with respect to COVID-19 (31). World over, close to three-fourths of domestic workers, a majority of whom are women, lost employment. Post lockdown, the ability to work has decreased significantly for women informal workers compared to their male counterparts (32), due to the burden of increased household and care work (33). Gender poverty gaps are expected to widen as a result of the pandemic, with half of the projected new poor in South Asia (34).

In South Asia, Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Pakistan, and Nepal announced lockdowns that brought public transport and paratransit services to a halt. However, the nature of public transportation permitted during the lockdown differed by country. In Bangladesh and Nepal, the lockdown brought all public transportation to a standstill (35,36), whereas in Pakistan, the lockdown periods differed by region (37). In Kabul, public transport vehicles were permitted to carry less than four passengers during the lockdown (4). In Delhi, India, the national lockdown enforced between 24th March 2020 and 31st May 2020, resulting in a complete halt of

public transport services. Metro-rail services were closed and only buses requisitioned for use by governmental agencies and health workers functioned during this time period (38,39).

As cities transitioned out of the lockdown, bus-based public transport operations resumed with curtailed services, lower occupancy, and regular disinfection of vehicles. Efforts were made to encourage contactless ticketing. In cities across South Asia, buses operated at 50% seat capacity with no standing passengers. Many cities permitted fare increases by private bus operators to compensate for reduced occupancy and revenues. Bangladesh permitted public transport to resume at 50% capacity with public bus fares to be increased by 60% (40). In November 2020, Nepal permitted public transport to resume with no restrictions (36). By September 2020, most cities in South Asia resumed bus services with full seating capacity, no standing passengers, and compulsory face masks. As of March 2021, Delhi is in the final phase of trials for contactless ticketing, an initiative to ensure minimum contact between people inside buses (41).

The COVID-19 pandemic has transformed the landscape of urban mobility in low-income countries. Public transportation systems are facing unprecedented stress, caused by curtailed services and falling revenue (42). With physical distancing norms in place, the shortage of public buses has led to a gap between demand and supply (43,44). However, there is a dearth of research and understanding on how the physical mobility of resource poor women informal workers (RPW) has been affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and their expectations from public transport services. Our research will be critical to ensure that this group of women workers, most affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, are enabled to participate effectively in the workforce.

Project aims and objectives

Our action-oriented empirical research aims to provide evidence and insights that can fast track knowledge uptake to guide policy reforms and responses by LICs in addressing gender equity in high-volume transport. Specifically, our objective is to understand the impact of COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown on women's mobility, the gaps between their expectations and public transportation strategies by LICs, and provide recommendations for gender responsive, safe, and secure public transportation. Our research lies within the broader framework of an economic recovery plan to achieve multiple sustainable development goals – climate change, sustainable cities, and gender equity.

Low-income country (LIC) beneficiaries

We focus on the city of Delhi with learnings for other cities in India and LICs in South Asia: Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Pakistan, and Nepal. Our primary audience in LICs are organisations advocating for sustainable transport and women's right to public spaces in LICs in South Asia, development banks, and corporate agencies. Our secondary audience are consulting organisations, professionals, and students in LICs, working on gender, urban mobility, public transportation, and paratransit.

1.1 Alignment with HVT and FCDO research themes, priorities, and programme objectives

Our research is aligned with the priorities of the High-volume Transport (HVT) Programme and the broader priorities of the Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO), UK.

Alignment with HVT Programme priorities

- **Climate change adaptation and mitigation:** Encouraging use of public transport and especially EV-based paratransit, to offset poor air quality in Delhi and other cities in LICs;
- Inclusion, gender, and road safety: Identifying mobility challenges faced by RPW in their use of public transport, and recommending actions to improve their access, usage, and travel experience;
- **Policy and regulation:** Examining Delhi's Electric Vehicle Policy (2020) for gaps in enabling gender equity among IPT operators, and providing suitable recommendations;
- **Technology and innovation:** Improving access and gender-inclusivity of digital platforms for public transport related services, especially for RPW;
- **Research uptake and capacity building:** Sensitise, increase awareness, and build capacity amongst transport policy influencers and decision makers.

Alignment with FCDO priorities

This research aligns with FCDO's priorities of strengthening resilience and response to crisis, promoting global prosperity and tackling extreme poverty, and helping the world's most vulnerable (45), by aligning planning, design, and implementation of public transport and IPT services towards the needs of RPW, increasing their access to the city, agency over their public life, and choice of livelihood, resulting in an overall improvement in their quality of life and economic prosperity.

2. Methodology

2.1 Summary of approach and innovation

Our approach and innovation builds on existing research on gender, mobility and livelihoods (21), lack of access to personal vehicles for RPW (25), reliance on buses and paratransit (26), affordability, transportation costs (26), impact of household and care work on women's economic opportunities (25,29), and the digital gender divide (30).

Sustainable development goals underpin our research

Women's access and mobility has been enshrined in the Sustainable Development Goal 11.2: By 2030, provide access to safe, affordable, accessible, and sustainable transport systems for all, improving road safety, notably by expanding public transport, with special attention to the needs of those in vulnerable situations; women, children, persons with disabilities and older persons (46). This forms the background of our action-oriented research.

Provide evidence for CSOs and MBOs to advocate for better public transport and increase women's participation in the transport sector

Civil society organisations (CSO), membership-based organisations (MBO), and feminist collectives have filled the gap in pandemic responses by government authorities, by providing food, rations, and employment to the urban poor (47). They also have a history of organising and advocating with governments for improving housing, employment conditions, and basic services for RPW. Our research design built on their experience, included their perspectives in the inception stage, and partnered with them to access RPW. We aim to provide evidence for CSOs and MBOs to advocate for better public transport and increase women's participation in the transport sector. For this research, we worked with Self-Employed Women's Association (SEWA), a MBO with 1.3 million informal women workers in India³.

Adopt a mixed methods and differentiated approach for data collection

We have adopted a mixed methods approach (48) using quantitative and qualitative data to provide a statistical and nuanced understanding (49) of RPW's lived realities. It improves the accuracy and reliability of data through triangulation and examination from various standpoints (49,50). The quantitative data and analysis are used to estimate the scale and degree of impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on women's travel behaviour, prioritise recommendations for public transportation, and make an economic case for policy recommendations. The qualitative data substantiated and provided context to the findings.

Simultaneously, we adopted two different modes (telephone and online forms) of survey data collection, recognising the digital divide across income groups of women. This assisted us in understanding the similarities and differences in the travel behaviour of different income groups of women and craft targeted policy response for RPW.

Use qualitative data to understand opinions, attitudes, beliefs, views, and preferences

Qualitative research methods allow us to capture perspectives, opinions, attitudes, and beliefs from different standpoints – public transport and paratransit users, advocacy groups, decision makers and policy influencers. This was done through multiple forms: an online round table, key informant interviews (KIIs) and in-depth interviews. While the online round table allowed us to aggregate perspectives of feminist networks, MBOs and CSOs, individual KIIs created a safe space for participants to reflect and remove social desirability bias. In-depth interviews allowed RPW to speak freely and openly. The methodology is described further in this chapter.

³ SEWA Delhi Union includes 40,000 informal women workers across its 8 community centres in Delhi. It works with women informal workers in these communities through strategic interventions such as organising, social security, health, education and skills development, livelihoods, and community microfinance services.

Use reflexive learning as a process to increase awareness

Our action-oriented research used reflexive learning as a process to increase awareness amongst transport policy influencers and decision makers. Reflexive learning is a process by which one critically examines a decision or practice and consciously analyses it with new information, it encourages questioning assumptions, prejudices and habitual actions (51). We conducted KIIs before commencing the data collection to assess initial opinions and shared the project findings later. Research uptake has been a continuous part of our process, thereby increasing avenues for advocacy and policy adoption.

2.2 Methodology and activities undertaken

Building on our approach, the research followed a two-phase process. The first phase aimed at understanding the gaps in grey and published literature, aggregating grassroots perspectives from MBOs and CSOs, assessing awareness amongst transport practitioners and decision-makers on the specific issues faced by RPW, and their perspectives. These informed our survey questionnaires. Research process and activities are summarised in Figure 2: Research Methodology and detailed in Appendix A.

COVID-19 cases were increasing during the data collection period, making direct face-to-face surveys in buses and public spaces risky. Hence a combination of telephone and online surveys were used as alternatives. In the case of paratransit surveys and bus ridership counts, the survey team took adequate measures to ensure physical distancing, wearing masks, and regular hand sanitising as per WHO guidelines (52).

Figure 2: Research Methodology

ie 1	SECONDARY RESEARCH		USER PERSPECTIVES		OUTPUTS		POLICY MAKERS
Phas	Literature Review	>	Online round table	}	INCEPTION REPORT	< <u></u>	Key informant interviews
			Bus passengers at bus stops and in-vehicles, by sex. online and		SURVEY ANALYSIS & RECOMMENDATIONS		Interviews with decision makers
Phase 2			telephonic survey, IPT survey, in-depth interviews				Review by project advisors, validation with experts
					ONLINE RELEASE AND PANEL DISCUSSION		

Table 1: Research activities

Activity	Time frame	Cumulative timeline (weeks)			
Phase I					
Literature review	28 th October - 9 th November 2020	3			
Online round table (17 participants)	11 th November 2020	4			
Key informant interviews (8)	17 th November - 2 nd December 2020	7			
Inception report	18 th December 2020	9			

Activity	Time frame	Cumulative timeline (weeks)			
Phase II					
Online and telephonic surveys	7 th December 2020 - 5 th January 2021	13			
Bus passengers at bus stops and in-vehicles, by sex	17 th December 2020 - 6 th January 2021	13			
IPT surveys	7 th December 2020 - 5 th January 2021	13			
In-depth interviews	28 th December 2020 - 9 th January 2021	13			
Survey analysis and recommendations	7 th January 2020 - 25 th February 2021	20			
Review by project advisors, validation with experts	26 th February - 22 nd March 2021	23			
Virtual workshop	30 th March 2021	24			

Literature review

The literature review focused on transport data and women's mobility in four South Asian cities; Kabul (Afghanistan), Kathmandu (Nepal), Dhaka (Bangladesh) and Lahore (Pakistan), followed by a deep dive in Delhi (India), our main research site. Keywords such as "mobility, women, bus, COVID-19, city name" were used in Google Scholar and Google search portals.

Online round table

An online roundtable was conducted on 11th November 2020 with international organisations, South Asian and Indian feminist networks, unions, and collectives to aggregate grassroot perspectives of the impact of COVID-19 and lockdown on the access and mobility of different groups of women.

No	Name	Organisation	Country
1	Anosha Ejlasi	UN-Habitat, Afghanistan	Afghanistan
2	Roshan Mashal	Afghan Women's Network	Afghanistan
3	Nasheeba Seleem	Asian Development Bank	Bangladesh
4	Nazma Akter	Awaj Foundation	Bangladesh
5	Riti Ahsan	Bangladesh Mohila Samity	Bangladesh
6	Selina Ahmed	Bangladesh Rural Advancement Committee	Bangladesh
7	Sharmin Nasreen	University of Asia Pacific	Bangladesh
8	Sitara Ahsanullah	Bangladesh Mohila Samity	Bangladesh
9	Gunjan Bihari	Centre for Catalysing Change	India
10	Kalpana Viswanath	Safetipin	India
11	Namita Malik	All India Federation of Self-Employed Women's Association (SEWA) Bharat Union	India
12	Premila V	Sampark	India
13	Sujata Mody	Penn Thozhilalargal Sangam (PTS)	India

Table 2: Online round table participants



No	Name	Organisation	Country
14	Supriya Jaan	CORO India	India
15	Maheen Arif	Karachi Urban Lab	Pakistan
16	Rukhsana Rashid	Independent Development Consultant (Gender Specialist)	Pakistan
17	Seher Afseen	Oxfam Pakistan	Pakistan

Key informant interviews

Key informant interviews (KIIs) were conducted with ten transport operators, and representatives of development banks, agencies and think tanks in India to gauge their awareness of the impact of COVID-19 and lockdown on women's mobility and obtain perspectives on the challenges and opportunities for ensuring gender equity, safety, and personal security in public transportation in a post COVID-19 scenario.

Table 3: Key informant Interviewees

	Name	Organisation
1	Gerald Olivier	World Bank
2	Kanika Kalra	Institute of Urban Transport (IUT)
3	Laghu Parashar	Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbH (GIZ)
4	O P Agarwal	World Resources Institute (WRI)
5	R Minhas	Delhi Transport Corporation (DTC)
6	Rajnish Ahuja	Agence Française de Développement (AFD)
7	Ranjit Gadgil	SUMNet
8	Samir Sharma	Delhi Integrated Multi-Modal Transit System (DIMTS)
9	Shiney Chakraborty	Institute of Social Studies Trust (ISST)
10	Shreya Gadepalli	Institute for Transportation and Development Policy (ITDP)

Bus passenger counts

Bus and sex-disaggregated passenger counts were undertaken every 15 minutes, over 16 hours from 6am-10pm at 22 bus stop locations (both sides of the road, hence 44 bus stops in total) to measure the ridership in Delhi's public bus transport system. The bus stops selected were located along major radial roads and the inner and outer ring roads, dispersed across the centre and periphery of the city, with bus routes connecting the centre of the city to the periphery, and vice versa. The second selection criteria was their proximity (within two kilometres) to resettlement colonies, urban villages, jhuggi jhopri (JJ) bastis, informal settlements, and home-based worker clusters (Section 2.2.5). Since buses halted for less than a minute at the stops, the survey team counted female passengers and vacant seats to arrive at the total number of passengers⁴.

Table 4: Bus stops for passenger counts

Bus stop number	Bus stop (both sides)
1	Telephone Exchange Najafgarh
2	Tilak Nagar
3	Moti Nagar
4	Rajdhani Park

⁴ There are 35 seats in DTC and DIMTS buses.

Bus stop number	Bus stop (both sides)
5	Madipur Jj Colony
6	Sarai Rohilla
7	Libas Pur GT Road
8	Jahangirpuri
9	Gur Mandi
10	Bhajanpura
11	Meet Nagar
12	Gopal Pur
13	Novelty Cinema
14	Dharampura
15	ІТО
16	Laxmi Nagar
17	East Vinod Nagar
18	Udyog Bhavan
19	Yusuf Sarai
20	Lado Sarai Crossing
21	Mata Mandir New Friends Colony
22	Madanpur Crossing

Figure 3: Bus stops for passenger counts



Telephone surveys with RPW workers

The telephone surveys were conducted with RPW workers in the age group of 18-59 years across 23 locations in Delhi. The settlements selected were located within a two-kilometre radius of the 22 bus stops. These were spatially mapped to ensure geographic distribution across the districts of Delhi, and at least 35 surveys

conducted per location to achieve statistical significance. We focused on informal settlements, resettlement colonies, jhuggi jhopri (JJ) bastis, urban villages, locations of home-based worker clusters, and low-income neighbourhoods around SEWA's Shakti Kendras (empowerment centres). Each settlement type was identified from numerous government databases and grey and published literature and mapped in a Geographic Information System (GIS). For example, the list of urban villages and notified informal settlements were taken from the Delhi Government's website (8) and Delhi Urban Shelter Improvement Board (DUSIB) (7) respectively. The clusters of home-based workers were identified from reports by WIEGO (53), resettlement colonies were identified from a report by the Displacement Research and Action Network (9), and the SEWA Shakti Kendra addresses⁵ were provided by SEWA (10) (Figure 6: Survey locations).

An agency was appointed to conduct the surveys. A Keyhole Markup Language file (KML) file was provided to the survey agency with the sample locations, and their enumerators obtained phone numbers from these locations. A draft survey form was first created and tested amongst RPW workers through telephonic conversations, then subsequently revised based on their responses. Amongst RPW, we focused on those who were working (as of December 2020), and who were bus and paratransit users (Table 5).

The survey questions aimed at assessing the socio-economic conditions of RPW, paid and unpaid household and care work performed, and individual incomes pre COVID-19, during the lockdown, and in December 2020. Travel diaries were created for each respondent by asking them to recall their daily travel activity for the past week from interview date. Broader questions were asked about the travel scenario pre COVID-19 to resolve memory recall issues. We also included specific questions about the impact of the Delhi Government's free bus ride for women scheme on RPW's travel behaviour, persisting issues, and new barriers impeding their access, safety, security, and affordability in transportation.

No.	Parameter	Stratification
1	Sampling	Our target was 800 telephone surveys at a confidence level of 95% and a confidence interval of 2.85. We were able to collect 822 surveys.
2	Location	Jhuggi jhopri (JJ) bastis (non-notified slums), resettlement colonies, urban villages, SEWA Shakti Kendras, and home-based worker clusters within two kilometres of 22 bus stops distributed across Delhi.
3	Age	18-59 years. 60% of women in Delhi belong to this age group (54).
4	Use of public transport	Respondents must use bus or IPT and travel at least once in two weeks. Travel companions to be avoided i.e., those accompanying respondents on the journey.
5	Number of surveys in a location	Minimum 35 surveys per location as 30 is the minimum number of surveys required for statistical validity.

Table 5: Sampling and stratification for telephone surveys

⁵ SEWA Shakti Kendras are located in Jahangirpuri, New Ashok Nagar, Mustafabad, Raghuveer Nagar, Rajiv Nagar, Sunder Nagri, Anand Vihar, and Mullah Colony (10).

Figure 4: Locations for telephone surveys



Data sources: JJ Bastis (7); Urban villages (8); Resettlement colonies (9); SEWA Shakti Kendras (10); Home based worker clusters (11); District boundary (12); Ward boundary (13)

Table 6: Selected bus stops and settlements for survey of RPW

Bus stop number	Bus stop	Settlements
1	Telephone Exchange Najafgarh	Najafgarh, Najafgarh Village
2	Dwarka More Metro Station	Nawada, Kakrola, Matiala
3	Tilak Nagar	Nagli Jalib, Tilak Village, Chaukhandi
4	Moti Nagar	Basai Darapur, Moti Nagar Resettlement Colony
5	Rajdhani Park	Rajdhani Park
6	Madipur JJ Colony	Madipur, Madipur Resettlement Colony
7	Sarai Rohilla	Sadhorah Khurd, Punjabi Basti, Nai Basti
8	Saffiabad Crossing	Narela, Vijay Nagar, Narela Resettlement Colony
9	Libas Pur GT Road	Samyapur Village, Bhalswa
10	Jahangirpuri	Ramgarh Village, Shalimar Village
11	Gur Mandi	Rajpur Chawni,
12	Bhajanpura	Area within two kilometres
13	Meet Nagar	Saboli, Ashok Nagar
14	Gopal Pur	Wazirabad
15	Novelty Cinema	Area within two kilometres
16	Dharampura	Seelampur
17	Laxmi Nagar	Shakharpur Khas, Shakarpur Resettlement Colony
18	East Vinod Nagar	East Vinod Nagar, West Vinod Nagar, Khichripur
19	Yusuf Sarai	Yusuf Sarai
20	Lado Sarai Crossing	Lado Sarai
21	Sangam Vihar	Sangam Vihar
22	Mata Mandir New Friends Colony	Sarai Jullena, Masih Garh, Joga Bai
23	Madanpur Crossing	Madhanpur Khadar, Tekhand

In-depth interviews with RPW

Qualitative in-depth interviews were conducted across eight SEWA Shakti Kendras with 13 RPW workers; home-based workers, street vendors, domestic workers, construction workers, and health workers, to gather grassroots level data on the impact of COVID-19. The objective was to understand the lived experiences (with respect to mobility) of these women during the pandemic. The interviews were coordinated by SEWA Delhi Union. SEWA Delhi Union in partnership with SMV Green Solutions6, has enabled five of their women members to become e-rickshaw operators (henceforth referred to as Vahinis) over the past year. All Vahinis were interviewed about the process of becoming an operator and any challenges they faced, and their

⁶ SMV Green Solutions is a Lucknow based organisation enabling women-operated e-rickshaws in Uttar Pradesh. Since 2019, they have supported 90 Vahinis (55).



operations (if any) during the lockdown and in December 2020. Due to the small sample size, our findings were validated by SMV Green Solutions.

Online surveys with women from other income groups (non RPW)

We used a snowball sampling technique to reach women with access to the internet. Four hundred women respondents were targeted, at a confidence level of 95% and a confidence interval of five. A Google link to the survey form was shared through WhatsApp. The survey questions were in English and aimed to understand the socio-economic status of the respondents, quantum of paid and unpaid household and care work, individual incomes pre COVID-19, during the lockdown, and in December 2020. We included specific questions about the impact of the free bus ride for women scheme on their travel behaviour, persisting issues, and new barriers impeding their access, safety, security, and affordability in transportation. The travel activity diary was not used in this instance as quality assurance could not be ensured. Further, the responses on pre COVID-19 travel were limited to the number and purpose of daily and weekly trips.

Semi-structured interviews with male paratransit service providers

Semi-structured interviews were conducted with 30 male paratransit operators: auto-rickshaws, e-rickshaws, Gramin Sewas and Phat Phat Sewas (Table 7). Interviews were distributed across 22 locations in Delhi, in proximity of the bus stops selected for passenger counts (Figure 6). No more than two operators were interviewed at each location, with each vehicle operating on a different route. The interviews included questions related to demography, operational details, costs, and revenue pre COVID-19, during lockdown and in December 2020. We also asked qualitative questions on the challenges faced by them, experience with female passengers, their perspectives on installing GPS devices in their vehicles (a mandatory requirement by the Government of India), and adoption of COVID-19 safety protocols.

We validated our findings with experts and with surveys conducted with 250 male e-rickshaw drivers in 2018, through the CapaCITIES project in Delhi (5).



Figure 5: Survey distribution

Table 7: Paratransit vehicles in Delhi

Vehicle Type	Fuel Type	Maximum seating capacity (excluding driver)	Fare stages as per the Transport Department
1. Auto-rickshaw	Compressed	Three, excluding the driver	Rs. 25: <1.5 km
	Natural Gas (CNG)		+ Rs. 9.5 per additional km
			Night charge: 25% extra (11pm to 5 am)
			Waiting charges: Rs. 0.75 per minute
Source: (50); (57)			
2. E-rickshaw ⁷	Electric	Four, excluding the driver	Rs.10: <3 km
			Rs.15: 3-5 km
Fource: (58)			Rs. 20: >5 km
3. Phat-Phat	CNG	7-12, excluding the driver	Rs 5: <3km
			Rs. 10: 3-7km
Kource: (59); (60)			Rs. 15: >7km
4. Gramin SEWA	CNG	Six, excluding the driver	Rs 5: <3km
			Rs. 10: 3-7km
Source:(61); (62)			Rs. 15: >7km

⁷ E-rickshaws are granted permits without a fare meter. Thus, the fares stated by the e-rickshaw operators is used.

Data analysis and recommendations

The primary (both qualitative and quantitative in nature) and secondary data were analysed to understand the spatial and social disadvantages to RPW arising from revised public transportation and paratransit operations.

Figure 6: Survey locations for paratransit vehicles



3. Findings from the literature review, online round table and key informant interviews

City	Population	Main mode of public transport
Dhaka, Bangladesh	4,55,68,835 (2011) (63)	Buses and minibuses
Kabul, Afghanistan	48,60,880 (2018-19) (64)	Small vans, minibuses
Lahore, Pakistan	1,11,26,285 (2017) (65)	Mini vans
Kathmandu, Nepal	17,44,240 (2011) (66)	Micro buses, minibuses
Delhi, India	1,67,87,941 (2011) (54)	Buses, Shared rickshaws

Table 8: City populations and main modes of transport

3.1 Literature review

The rapid review of secondary research revealed gaps in the availability and accessibility of published and grey literature on gender and transport in cities in South Asia. While there was some literature on the perception of safety and experience of sexual harassment in public transport and paratransit, there was limited research on affordability, accessibility, spatial disparity, and the mobility of women and girls across different socio-economic groups. This was in the pre-COVID-19 scenario, lockdown and after.

Public transport consists of a variety of vehicles such as standard buses, minibuses, microbuses, minivans, tempos, auto-rickshaws, e-rickshaws. The city of Delhi had the largest fleet size of publicly and privately-operated buses. Across the cities, literature highlighted the insufficiency of buses, with infrequent services, poor geographical coverage, and overcrowding. They are perceived to be unsafe, and men often occupied seats reserved for women. Paratransit services, while more expensive than buses, are commonly used in Kabul, Lahore and Kathmandu due to their coverage, connectivity and seat availability.

Women-only buses have been launched in all the selected cities without much success. Insufficient fleet size, poor frequency, lack of awareness of these services are a few reasons for low patronage. There is a lack of attention to the context, as women in Afghanistan generally do not travel without a male escort. In cities like Lahore, the women-only bus services do not operate in the late evening and night. This indicates that tokenistic measures at introducing sex-segregated bus services may not be useful, without considering women as public transport users.

A detailed review of the focus city, Delhi and other cities in South Asia such as Dhaka, Kabul, Lahore and Kathmandu is provided in the following sections.

Delhi, India: Focus city

Delhi, also known as the National Capital Territory (NCT) of Delhi, has an urban population of 16 million as per the 2011 census. In 2011, urban women constituted 46.47% of the total urban population (54). Delhi possesses a combined fleet of over 6,100 buses under the Delhi Transport Corporation (DTC) and cluster buses managed by Delhi Integrated Multi-Modal Transit System (DIMTS) (42). As 80% of all trips undertaken in Delhi are less than 10 kilometres, bus-based transportation is the most practical form of public transportation (67).

A study conducted on the mobility pattern of women workers employed in the informal sector in Sangam Vihar, an unauthorised colony located at the urban edge of Delhi highlighted the difference in work and travel patterns of married and unmarried women in Delhi (25). Married women, who bore a larger share of domestic responsibilities were more likely to work closer to home, with flexible timings, and shorter hours. Unmarried women travelled longer distances, spent more money, and were willing to compromise in terms of safety and comfort for better job opportunities as compared to married women. The participants of the survey spent between 6% to 36% of their income solely on travel related expenses (25).

Gera and Hasdell argue that the public transportation system in Delhi is planned for point to point travel patterns, that is from residential areas to city centres (25). This caters to the travel needs of the formal sector (25). Women's travel needs often fall outside of the regular schedule time of buses (29). In Delhi, a percentage of buses are deployed as school buses in the off-peak hours, thus reducing the frequency of public transportation in the off-peak hours (68). The pandemic presents an opportunity to examine and restructure the routes of public transport to improve connectivity and better integrate and connect schools, markets, essential services and residential areas (69).

The free ride bus scheme for women launched in late 2019 by the Delhi government facilitated women's access to public transport and saw female ridership share increase from 33% to above 40% (70,71). Several issues remain unaddressed. Buses in Delhi are found to have poor frequency, run overcrowded and women face sexual harassment (25,72,73).

On 24th March 2020, the Indian Government declared a national lockdown which also restricted movement and curtailed public transportation services to 50% of the DTC fleet (2,000 buses) (74). A survey conducted by ISST (2020) revealed that this presented a multitude of problems for women informal workers, primarily loss of income due to loss of jobs (21%), inability to commute because of the lockdown (68%), or fear of contracting the virus (55%) (15). Further, 32.4% of women informal workers found transport the essential service was most difficult to access during lockdown (15).

The Government of India addressed the economic security of women through measures such as utilising the existing cash transfer mechanism, Pradhan Mantri Jan-Dhan Yojana (PMJDY).^{8.} Under the Pradhan Mantri Garib Kalyan Package (PMGKP), the Government of India announced a direct benefit transfer of INR 500⁹ to 200 million women who held a PMJDY account (75,76). However, a survey conducted by ISST (2020) revealed that many of the beneficiaries were unable to access automated teller machines (ATM)/ banks due to the lack of public transport (15).

In the fourth phase of lockdown beginning 18th May 2020, public transport services were resumed with a maximum capacity of 20 passengers per bus in an alternate seating arrangement, to maintain physical distancing (77). This resulted in increased waiting times for passengers to as high as three hours in some instances (78). Delhi, which has only half the number of required buses to cater to its population, faces immense crowding at bus stops; the situation worsens when a bus arrives, and people rush to board the bus (77). Not only are physical distancing norms flouted in these situations, but women find it difficult to board buses by jostling their way in ahead of male passengers. Regardless of the free rides for women scheme and 25% reserved seats in DTC buses, the pandemic resulted in a situation where women had to be among the first 20 passengers to board the bus to be assured passage. DTC officials estimated that Delhi would require five times its fleet to ensure access to public transportation with the current carrying capacity, following physical distancing norms (44).

Transport think-tanks and organisations released standard operating procedures (SOPs) for bus-based transportation in the wake of the pandemic. These SOPs include guidance for bus and transport authorities, passengers, drivers, conductors, bus shelters, and terminals, as well as communication of information with staff and passengers (79), fare payment, financing, and fleet expansion (80)(81). While some have no gender sensitive measures (82), others take into consideration the needs of elderly, differently abled, and pregnant women, by prioritising their boarding and seating (80). SOPs for bus based public transport have also suggested measures such as equipping retail stores to sell bus passes and act as customer information centres, advertising bus schedules through newspapers and other media, setting up helplines through phones, short message service (SMS), WhatsApp, etc. (80).

The pandemic has sharpened the inequalities among different groups of public transport users, namely men, women, differently abled, pregnant women, and the elderly (83). The Government of the National Capital Territory of Delhi (GNCTD) permitted buses to run with full seating capacity and no standing passengers from 1st November 2020 (84). GNCTD plans to launch contactless ticketing for DTC and cluster buses. A second trial

⁸ PMJDY was launched in 2014 by the Government of India under the national mission for financial inclusion to ensure universal access to banking facilities

⁹ One United States Dollar equals 73.56 Indian Rupees

run conducted over a period of 14 days in September resulted in 51,644 tickets sold over the app, Chartr, which constituted six percent of all tickets sold during the period. Of the tickets purchased online, 79.4 % were pink tickets (tickets denoting free travel for women)(85)¹⁰. A user can access route details and schedule of the bus as well as the expected time of arrival (ETA) of the bus. However, these tickets and facilities can only be utilised via the app, which necessitates access to a smartphone (85).

Other cities in South Asia

Dhaka, Bangladesh

In Dhaka, 5,000 buses and mini-buses operated in the city and neighbouring districts pre COVID-19. These were supplemented by long distance buses from Gabtoli, Mohakhali inter-district terminal etc. (86). Bangladesh Road Transport Authority (BRTA) provides route permits and requires that at least nine seats are reserved for women in buses (40+ seats) and six seats in mini-buses (30 seats) (87,88). However, these rules are rarely implemented in practice (89).

Public transport was suspended on 26th March 2020, at the onset of the national lockdown. Restrictions were lifted 67 days later, on 30th May 2020, and BRTA allowed buses to operate with 50% carrying capacity and a 60% fare hike. However, fare rules were often flouted, passengers claiming that bus operators increased fares by as much as 90% (40). From 1st September 2020, BRTA allowed full seating in buses without standing passengers at pre COVID-19 fares (90). However, fare rules continued to be flouted (91). In the post lockdown scenario, no seats were reserved for women (92).

Women in Dhaka face long waiting times at bus stops, overcrowded buses, and sexual harassment (89). Reports suggest that during peak hours women are not allowed to board buses by conductors and drivers (87). BRTA launched women-only buses in Dhaka in the 1980s when it began to witness an increase in women workers. The female labour force participation increased from 18% in 1999 to 58.5% in 2016 (87,93). BRTA's initiative was unsuccessful however, due to a variety of reasons including a lack of awareness of their existence among women (87). It was relaunched in 2004 and again in 2008, however, only a few women-only buses continue operating today (87). Now, private bus services, such as Dolonchapa launched in 2018, have taken up running women-only buses in Dhaka. These buses have closed-circuit television (CCTV) cameras; however, their capacity is a maximum of 34 seats and the city road transport authority has capped the number of such buses at 30 (94). Due to a lack of awareness among the general populace, the low number of buses, and lack of distinct features that mark it as a 'women only' bus, Dolonchapa women-only buses run at a loss (95).

Kabul, Afghanistan

Public bus service in Afghanistan is primarily composed of Millie buses in urban areas such as Kabul, administered by the Ministry of Transportation. At present only 110 Millie buses (gifted by countries such as India and Italy) of the original 1,600 are in operation (96,97). Millie buses can carry 50 passengers. Other means of transport include small vans, which have a seating capacity for seven individuals, and mini buses that carry 20 persons (98). The private sector in Afghanistan accounts for 90% of public transport operations (99). 71% of motorised trips are by public transport in Afghanistan (100), with all public transport operating at 1.5 times their carrying capacity (98).

There are very few women who drive cars, motorbikes, or bicycles in Afghanistan. Between 2012 and 2016, 1,189 women obtained driving licenses and this number is steadily increasing (101). In the first half of 2019, 275 licences for women were approved (101,102). Women in Afghanistan tend to pay more for informal public transport and are also subjected to harassment and assault (102). Women constitute 25% of commuters and are predominantly in the age group of 6-14 years (102). In 2019, the pilot phase of the Pink Shuttle-Bano Bus (all-female transportation service) was launched by Nove Onlus, an Italian NGO. During the first phase, four women were trained to drive minivans for 100 preselected clients. The second phase was initiated post lockdown on 1st September 2020 (103).

Between 27th March and 21st May 2020 when lockdown was imposed in Kabul, public transport carrying more than five passengers was banned in the city (104). According to the United Nations Office for the Coordination

¹⁰ This is counter intuitive as our counts suggested that women constituted around 30% of all passengers in buses in December 2020.

of Humanitarian Affairs, on 26th May 2020, vehicles in Kabul were only allowed to travel on alternate days depending on the last digits of their number plates (105). However, by July 2020, though government imposed COVID-19 lockdown measures were officially still in place, they were no longer being enforced (106).

Lahore, Pakistan

In Lahore the majority of public transport trips are by minivans (18-seater) (107,108). A survey of women and transportation in Lahore revealed that although overall women in Lahore travel lesser, they are 30% more likely to be dependent on public transportation such as buses, and 150% more dependent on paratransit such as auto-rickshaws than men (109). Women are further constrained by cultural norms that restrict their use of personal two-wheelers (109). Harassment of women is common in public transport, as is overcrowding, especially in wagons (a form of paratransit) which have only two front seats reserved for women. Pakistan runs women-only pink bus services in different regions (Lahore has three pink bus routes). However, they remain limited in number and geographical coverage. This makes the service infrequent and less accessible to a majority of women (109). Further, the service is unavailable in the evening and at night, which necessitates a different mode of transport for women at later hours (109). Around 40% of women felt that more pink buses are required together with measures to increase awareness on their service schedules (109).

The pink bus service in Mardan and Abbottabad comprising 14 buses donated by the Japanese government shut down in 2020 due to poor ridership and financial loss suffered by the contractors. Women in Pakistan, who are mostly accompanied by male family members, could not travel in the pink buses and opted for other means of transport (110). 'The Safe Women,' a mobile application launched in conjunction with the pink bus, shares bus routes, schedules, ETA, and allows GPS tracking of the user by pre-approved individuals. The app first introduced in 2018, was relaunched in 2020 after modifications. Adoption rate remains low due to a lack of awareness of the application, combined with women's lack of familiarity with smartphones (111).

Lockdown was imposed on 24th March 2020 by different regional governments (37). On 19th May 2020, the Punjab government released a notification directing buses to run with up to 20% reduced fares and keeping seats adjacent to passengers older than 65 years vacant (112). Public transport resumed in Balochistan on 8th June 2020 with reduced capacity (10 passengers in a 18 seater van) (113), and in Sindh on 3rd June 2020 (114).

Kathmandu, Nepal

Major modes of public transportation in Kathmandu valley include 5,305 buses and 2,000 tempos (10-15 passengers). most bus-based transport comprises micro-buses (15-20 passengers), mini and standard buses (20-35 passengers). Small private operators often run a single bus and belong to the Federation of Nepal National Transportation Entrepreneurs (FNNTE) (115). According to a study conducted by the Ministry of Physical Infrastructure and Transport, Nepal (MoPIT) and Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA), low occupancy vehicles (LOV) account for 94% share of public transport, with large buses accounting for the remaining six percent (116). In Kathmandu, public transport accounts for less than three percent of total registered vehicles, while catering to 27.6% of the trips (116).

Overcrowding and sexual harassment are common challenges women face in public transport. A survey conducted by Clean Air Network Nepal (CANN) and Clean Energy Nepal (CEN) found that 61.7% of female respondents found buses to be uncomfortable due to overcrowding (117). Though four seats are reserved for women in buses, men often occupy these seats (118). In 2015, the Bagmati Federation Transport Union launched a women-only bus service on a single route in Kathmandu but received low patronage (119).

The Government of Nepal announced a lockdown from 24th March to 22nd July 2020. During this period public transport came to a standstill (36). The lack of public transport severely affected many farmers who were dependent on it to ferry vegetables from the suburbs to the city (120). After lockdown was lifted, buses in Nepal were permitted to carry passengers at 50% seating capacity with a 50% permissible fare hike (121). On 12th October 2020, the government decided to lift restrictions on the carrying capacity of buses.

3.2 Online round table

A brief introduction to the project was provided followed by a presentation on the findings from the literature review. The participants were then invited to share their views, opinions, and experiences regarding women and girls' mobility in the respective LMICs

The round table respondents observed that while there are differences in socio-cultural norms across the selected South Asian cities, women and girls face similar issues in public transport related to service frequency, comfort and accessibility, infrastructure, safety and sexual harassment. For RPW, the availability of transport, freedom to choose their livelihoods and earned incomes were interconnected. This necessitated differential strategies for women across income groups and work sectors. Further, the loss of incomes due to the COVID-19 pandemic made RPW financially dependent on other members of the family.

Resource poor women must be enabled to participate in the transport sector as service providers and digital technologies could be leveraged to create new avenues for income generation. There is a need to expand the dialogue from women's safety to reclaiming access to public spaces. The emphasis should be on increasing women's rights, access to opportunities, and public spaces in all South Asian countries.

Gender inequities in public transport and paratransit in South Asia, pre-COVID-19

For women, the availability of transport, freedom to choose their livelihoods and earned incomes are interconnected

Infrastructure and service challenges are due to insufficient and unorganised nature of public transport. Buses tend to be heavily crowded as the fleets are inadequate to meet the needs of the population they serve. This also results in increased waiting times. The situation is exacerbated in rural areas where public transport has lower coverage and frequency. Women are more severely affected by these deficiencies as they primarily depend on public transport for their mobility needs and on male members of the family for shorter commutes. The access to and efficiency of public transport often decides training and employment opportunities for women and therefore their incomes. For women, the availability of transport, freedom to choose their livelihoods and earned incomes are interconnected. Women also spend a higher share of their wages on transport due to lower earned incomes than men.

Reservation of seats for women in buses are rarely enforced

The limited seating capacity for women in public transport emerged as a consistent theme. In Pakistan for example, only a third of seats are reserved for women in buses. While most cities have reserved seats for women in buses, these are rarely enforced in practice as men often occupy these seats and refuse to vacate them for female passengers. Vans or shared taxis account for a major share of public transport in countries like Afghanistan. These vehicles tend to operate beyond their carrying capacity. If women do not want to sit near men, they are forced to pay double the fare.

Sexual harassment hinders women's use of public transport and is exacerbated by women's lack of affordability

Sexual harassment is the most significant issue that hinders women's use of public transport, along with other infrastructural issues such as the lack of lighting at bus stops, waiting areas not designed for caregivers and lack of pedestrian walkways and safe crossings.

Patriarchal social and cultural norms limit the geography of women and girls' access to opportunities

Social and cultural norms play a major role in restricting women's mobility in all South Asian countries, especially Afghanistan. Families and often women themselves forego employment opportunities due to late travel in the evenings and a lack of access to public transportation. This is compounded by a prevalence of stereotypical gender roles that expect women to perform most of the household and care work. Accordingly, women "choose" to work close to their homes or in areas easily accessible by public transport.

Differentiated strategies are required for women across income groups and work sectors, especially informal women workers

Even among resource poor women (RPW), the challenges in mobility vary across groups. In Delhi, street vendors are often forced to use expensive IPT as bus conductors do not allow them to board with their goods. While domestic workers usually find employment close to their residence, public transportation services for short trips are not available, thus these women tend to walk or use e-rickshaws. Public bus connectivity from residential areas to markets are also poor. This negatively affects home-based workers in Delhi. RPW also suffer when their colonies are relocated (often to peripheral areas). Loss of employment is usually accompanied by a loss of mobility due to increased travel costs and poor public transport at the peripheries.

Effect of the pandemic on the mobility of resource poor women

The loss of incomes due to the COVID-19 pandemic made RPW financially dependent on other members of the family

A significant number of informal women workers, such as construction workers, domestic workers, street vendors, and sex workers have lost their jobs due to the pandemic. The loss of incomes has resulted in these women becoming financially dependent on other members of the family. This lack of financial independence combined with the high cost of transportation in countries like Afghanistan has further restricted the mobility of women.

"Availability of transport, livelihood for women, income, freedom to choose their livelihood work, and bargain for higher pay are all complicatedly intertwined. It is a big challenge for women workers all together."- Representative of a trade union

In Mumbai, India, as the lockdown lifted and transportation resumed, women were only permitted to travel on local trains in the off-peak hours. As a result, they were forced to opt for more expensive alternate modes of transport. Primary health care workers and sanitary workers in Mumbai were expected to report for duty on time even during the lockdown and were penalised if they failed to do so. No consideration or travel cost reimbursement was provided, even when restrictions on public transport forced them to resort to expensive alternate modes. In Bangalore, India, a few private garment factories continued to provide transportation to their workers post -COVID-19.

"In Bangladesh, workers in the garment sector¹¹ were forced to give up their jobs due to the lack of company provided transportation, public transportation or were laid off (primarily single women) due to problems in the global supply chains." - Representative of a labour union.

Digital technology can be leveraged to create new avenues for income generation for RPW

On the other hand, COVID-19 created new opportunities to interact with women, especially in rural and semirural areas. Oxfam, Pakistan explored this opportunity by experimenting with digital models of training and digital platforms to impart knowledge on life skills, vocational training, and micro-business skills. Women involved in e-commerce have flourished due to access to national, provincial, and global markets. Among women a shift from public transport to paratransit and private vehicles also occurred during the pandemic due to health and safety considerations.

Good practice approaches in enabling women's mobility and livelihoods

Various initiatives had been implemented across cities in South Asia before the COVID-19 pandemic to improve women's access to mobility and livelihoods. Travel subsidies can be provided for women or disadvantaged groups of women. In India, the Karnataka government's construction welfare board provided free annual bus passes for 1,000 workers, including 200 women workers. A free bus pass would enable saving of Rs 12,600 (172 dollars) in a year per person individually. This practice could be extended across India, as all the states have welfare boards. The Delhi government has also initiated free bus travel for women and the reservation of a compartment in the metro for female passengers.

¹¹ The garment and textile industry in Bangladesh accounts for 80% of the country's exports (122).

Women must be enabled to participate in the transport sector as service providers

Many countries in South Asia including India, Pakistan, Afghanistan, and Bangladesh have reservation of seats for women and women-only bus services. However, these women-only bus services suffer from poor ridership due to multiple factors including low frequency, poor coverage and poorly designed time schedules. A redesign of women-only bus operations with a large fleet of smaller buses that have drop off points close to travel destinations may improve ridership. A similar initiative is the pink rickshaws in Lahore, which are owned and operated by women. They enable women's mobility, while at the same time providing a source of income. Women can be encouraged to participate in the transportation sector in various roles such as drivers and conductors. Concurrently, they must be provided with facilities such as public toilets to enable their participation.

Task forces on women's mobility can provide bottom-up perspectives to transport operators and government officials

Task forces on women's mobility, which include representation from women workers and civil society can provide bottom-up perspectives to transport operators and government officials. There is a need to advocate the mobility challenges faced by women and concrete action taken to increase public awareness. An example is the Varan buses in Rawalpindi, Pakistan, which were painted with messages on women empowerment by a female cartoonist. There is a need to collect data on women's mobility, travel patterns, and their use of public transportation but also infrastructure and service-related issues related to public transport.

"Women can increase their rights to the city by reclaiming public transport and spaces. Access to mobility must considered a rights-based issue, rather than a protection-based issue."- Representative of a social enterprise.

3.3 Key informant interviews

The respondents of the key informant interviews were aware of the gendered inequities in transport. They underscored the disproportionate impact of public transport deficiencies and improvements on women and girls, and the need for disaggregating gender identity by age and income for a nuanced understanding of travel behaviour and constraints.

However, the notion of trade-offs between efficiency of public transportation and equity emerged, reflecting a false dichotomy. Women's access to transport was perceived as a social issue rather than exploring avenues to increase their ridership and acknowledging women's contribution to the economy through paid and unpaid work.

The concept of the pink tax was highlighted, i.e., the additional cost incurred by women in using paratransit in off-peak hours of bus schedules and the restrictions on their mobility due to patriarchal gender stereotypes and roles. We were also encouraged to explore the next preferred mode of transport for women bus users and explore which parameter affected this decision. The digital divide across gender and income can exclude marginalised groups by denying them access to information.

Differences in mobility between men and women

Improving the accessibility of public transport benefits women more than men

The differences in women's mobility, travel behaviour, and access needs are significantly different from men and can be attributed to women's role as caregivers for children and the elderly and bearing the burden of household work resulting in less work trips, low ownership and access to private vehicles, safety concerns while travelling, and less disposable income for travel expenditure.

These factors explain women undertaking more complex trips involving trip chaining, consistent travel in the off-peak hours, their mode choices and preferences for working within walkable distance of their residences. Therefore, improving the accessibility of public transport will benefit women more than men. The perimeter of employment opportunities for women is limited by access to mobility. However, it must be noted that the use of 'women' as a homogenous category is misleading. The travel behaviour and mobility of women vary across age groups and income groups.
"Women bear a pink tax, which is the extra cost borne because she is travels during off-peak hours. This often means that she must use a rickshaw instead of a cheaper alternative like a bus."– Representative of a development bank.

Mode choice is a trade-off between three categories, value of time, value of cost and value of comfort

The degree of priority of these parameters changes according to socio-economic profile. The value of time and comfort might be higher for middle and higher-income groups than the value of cost, whereas for lower-income groups, the value of cost is higher than others.

"In Delhi's context, where bus services are free, the value of time is greater than the value of comfort and convenience for women." – Representative of a development corporation agency.

Informal women workers often face additional challenges while travelling, anecdotal evidence suggests that women street vendors are often not allowed to board buses or metros with their wares. The shortfall in the public transport system is so severe that tackling the issues of marginalised sections of society within the ambit of public transport is a difficult task.

While an appreciation of the difference in travel behaviour of men and women is important, the challenge is responding to these differences in terms of policy or operational responses. It is also important to measure whether any solution implemented to promote inclusivity in services is effective in effecting the desired change.

Impact of COVID-19 on the mobility of resource-poor women

Patriarchal gender roles have exacerbated the economic and social fallout of COVID-19 on women

Evidence from past pandemics and epidemics suggests that women suffer more, because of their role as caregivers within the household as well as the type of jobs performed by women such as health care, hospitality, tourism, retail, etc. are harder hit by an infectious disease driven economic crisis. COVID-19 has amplified women's unpaid work burdens. With the widespread closure of schools and childcare facilities, the amount of time women spend on childcare has increased. While some women have had to give up their work for household and care responsibilities, many resource-poor women, especially domestic workers, have lost their jobs because of the employers' fears of transmission of the virus during their commute to work.

When there is a deficiency in bus-based transportation, vulnerable sections of the population are the first to bear the brunt. COVID-19 has had much more impact on the mobility of women than of men. Women have limited access to mobility services as public transport services are plying with restrictions since the lockdown lifted, further compounded by a lack of access to personal motor vehicles. Women usually do not have an alternative to public transport; thus, they are faced with longer waiting times. The access to public transport in a city generally has more impact on the mobility of women than men. For example, if a route is discontinued, a drastic change is seen in the workforce participation of women in that area, and it also affects their expenditure pattern.

"In Delhi, the available data suggests that the current bus ridership of women has declined to 33% from 37% in a pre-COVID-19 scenario." – Representative of an urban transport and development infrastructure company.

Walkability gained more importance during COVID-19 as it is the most feasible mode of transport since bus services are less accessible due to a combination of factors including, physical distancing, lowered frequency, perceived safety, crowding at bus stops, etc. Along with improving public transport operations, walkability factors, safety and infrastructure of the bus shelter also need improvement. Resource poor women, especially street vendors were unable to access bus-based public transportation in Delhi immediately after lockdown. Buses did not halt at bus stops where women vendors waited. Neither did they allow women to board as conductors and drivers felt they would not get paid for these trips. These findings are counterintuitive considering that bus operators get reimbursed for free pink tickets issued to women passengers.

"In the wake of COVID-19, trip distances for men have also decreased, due to the work from home scenario. However, our public transport systems are not equipped to serve short trips. Bus services are

usually designed to cater to long distance trips. Thus, it is important to think of public transport systems which are more local in nature to cater to shorter trips, such as circulators. The circulators will serve short trips within the neighbourhoods. They will benefit women as a large portion of short trips are taken by women." – Representative of a think tank.

Overcoming the digital divide

Reliability of public transport trumps availability of RTI for shorter trips

Ideally, public transport services must be frequent and reliable enough that commuters need not depend on digital information. Additionally, commuters usually do not track buses for a short commute of around 5-7 km. Intelligent Transport System (ITS) and Global Positioning System (GPS) are not useful if the waiting time of the system is longer than 30 minutes. In such situations, people may shift to paratransit which are more frequently available.

"The digitalisation of public transport can enable large scale communication to the public and reduce the risk of the virus spreading through physical contact. However, this will require commuters to have access to smartphones or some other digital device. The digital divide is not unique to gender but plays out across age and income levels more radically than across gender." – Representative from a development bank.

Improve reach of smartphones among RPW and explore dissemination techniques beyond mobile applications for wider reach

"Women's collectives must be empowered to facilitate resource-poor women's access to mobility through an approach that focuses on economic upliftment (alternatively the provision of subsidised smartphones) and subsequent imparting of technical know-how on the use of smartphones. The ownership of smartphones is a vital cornerstone of social inclusion, enabling access to information, opportunities, and entertainment." – Representative of a development bank.

Software applications can convert digital information into real time general transit feed specification (GTFS) data to a more conventional form readable on a basic phone. Real time information on local buses, the availability of seats on the bus, and the level of crowding can be shared through mobile applications. However, it is a reality that a section of the population, including RPW, do not have access to smartphones. Real-time information about public transport can be communicated through other means such as radio channels, the by-line on local TV news channels. Short message services (SMS) updates (regional language) in the basic phone can also be a useful medium. However, it is important to spread awareness about the available means of communication among commuters.

Another solution proposed was the evolution of the Aadhar card¹² or the metro card to function as a national common mobility card. This card could be used across different modes of public transport including IPT. Its functions can include the facilitation of digital transport fare payments as well as targeted subsidies to specific sections of the population. However, studies suggest that many informal women workers do not have bank accounts, ration cards, or even identity cards.

Safety at bus stops and boarding points

Explore stop gap measures to improve women's accessibility to public transport till universal accessibility is achieved

Suggestions to ensure safe boarding of passengers include defining either the front door or the back door solely for the use of women passengers with reservation of seats (up to 60%) for women near the women-only door in buses. Social distancing circles defined by gender were also proposed to ensure women are not crowded out. Increasing not only the number of women-only buses, but also the participation of women in the transport sector with more women drivers and conductors in buses is another proposal.

¹² Aadhar card (issued by the Unique Identification Authority of India) is an identity card that serves as proof of identity and proof of address for residents in India

The practice of men and women boarding from separate doors has been implemented in multiple cities in India. It will require the dissemination of information among commuters. Reservation of seats for women must be strictly implemented; seats can be reserved close to the women-only door to ensure maximum comfort for women, as well as reduce the chances of men appropriating these seats.

At present, 28 women-only buses are running during peak hours in Delhi. Women-only services are helpful if there are major issues related to women's safety. Travel with men does not seem to be an issue from a cultural perspective in Delhi. The reservation of seats and similar initiatives can only be a stopgap and public transport must get to a point where a woman or a senior citizen is safe anywhere within the bus.

Increasing fleet size is the best way to ensure universal accessibility of bus-based public transport. Possible alternatives include bringing in private bus operators on board through a public-private partnership, acquiring private buses from private operators who have shut down, and optimising the use of buses on school duty.¹³ The current situation provides a window of opportunity to consider providing upgraded services in the form of premium buses with a better quality of service at a higher price, or increased capacity by providing a larger number of small buses. Premium services could attract choice users towards public transport.

Delhi government is in the process of implementing initiatives for women's safety in buses, and augmenting its fleet

Delhi needs about 6,000 more buses. DTC currently operates 3,700 buses and there are 2,000 buses operating in 17 clusters. DTC is expecting an additional 1,300 buses to join its fleet in the next six months. DTC has initiatives aimed at women's safety and security such as 28 women-only bus services, eco vans staffed by a marshal, and two traffic supervising staff with a direct communications link with the control room. DTC is also in the process of equipping all buses with panic buttons, closed-circuit television (CCTV) cameras, and Global Positioning Devices (GPS). The control room will alert the nearest eco van, as well as any other concerned department such as fire services in case of an emergency.

"The ridership of women in cluster buses rose from 21% in 2011 to 29% in 2019 and further increased from 29% to 37% after the implementation of the free bus ride scheme, indicating that affordability was one of the reasons that restricted women's mobility. However, this does not indicate an increase in the number of women travelling. Rather it could denote a modal shift among women already travelling." - Representative of an urban transport and development infrastructure company.

Mobility of resource poor women in the urban periphery

Subsidise last mile connectivity trips for RPW to compensate for poor public transport coverage

"Resource-poor women living in the periphery of cities face double isolation i.e., physical isolation compounded by a lack of transport. Coverage by public transport is low in peripheral areas, likely due to the insufficient number of buses. The problem of access to last mile connectivity and public transport is a major concern. One solution is the provision of free last mile connectivity services for resource-poor women. Travel grants and subsidies can be provided to women informal workers." – Representative of a development corporation agency.

One such option is to provide pink tickets to women to avail free rides on e-rickshaws or auto-rickshaws. Operators of these services can be reimbursed either weekly or monthly. These tickets can be provided at ration shops, milk booths, post offices, or any other government institution easily accessible to all. This will make sure the grant is utilised solely by women for travel, as direct cash transfer schemes might not be appropriately utilised or benefit women in male-headed households.

The extension of fare benefits can be across different modes. This will necessitate digital means to avoid misuse. The Aadhaar Card or ration card¹⁴ can also be used to implement a scheme for the targeted segment. The digitalisation of services like integrated online payment, card system, etc. can open new opportunities for this extension. Similarly, the existing metro card (which can be used in buses as well) can be integrated with

¹³ In Delhi, buses are diverted to perform school trips during off-peak hours

¹⁴ Ration card entitles the holder to a ration of subsidised food, fuel and goods with respect to their household income; It also serves as a form of identification (123).

IPT, including Gramin Sewa¹⁵, auto-rickshaws, and e-rickshaws to provide subsidies to women. The government can provide these smart cards to potential beneficiaries with the travel subsidy amount already added to it. Provision of viability gap funding (VGF) to transport operators to run services in unserved or under-served areas is another alternative. These transport operations can act as catchment service that connects to the major arterial roads to create a collector system that connects to the main artery. Alternatively, VGF can be provided by the government to IPT drivers to reduce the fare for women.

A shift from walking to cycling can potentially increase travel radius by three times

Cycling can be promoted as an alternative to public transport. Census data itself reveals a significant gender difference (Male: 20%; Female: 4% in urban India) in the use of bicycles. Initiatives that can be taken to improve women's access to bicycles include schemes to provide subsidised bicycles for girls and women in conjunction with bicycle training camps. A shift from walking to cycling can potentially increase the travel radius of women by three times.

Data for evidence-based decision making

Optimising public transport operations may amplify inequity

It was argued that the planning of bus systems involves a trade-off between efficiency and equity. The optimum utilisation of buses is dependent on whether the intention is to maximise revenue or fulfil other objectives. In case the objective is social in nature, the question arises of who will pay for the deficit generated in fulfilling such objectives.

In situations where there is a limited number of buses, they will usually be deployed in a way that makes maximum financial sense to the bus company. The level of utilisation of buses must be gauged to check if they are well used, based on which it can be decided whether to adjust bus routes to serve underserved areas.

Thus, when defining the cost of service, it is important to consider whether the city can afford this level of service as well as understand the likely demand for the service, to optimise the network. Isolated areas in the city must be surveyed for unknown or latent demand, with targeted surveys for understanding the quantum of demand and travel behaviour.

Evidence based data essential to drive reforms in public transport operations

"While planning a bus system, revealed preferences must be prioritised above stated preferences." – Representative from a development bank.

Data to enable evidence-based decisions must include information on the mode choice, and secondary mode choice in the absence of their preferred mode. This data can be substantiated with information on public transport ridership and metro card ownership. Data on generation points for buses would prove invaluable to bus service providers. With respect to data that can inform initiatives to improve female ridership, information can be collected on the perception of safety in public transport along with perception surveys and qualitative assessments of the mobility needs of women. Access to mobile phones may prove essential as many transport related services move to a digital platform. In terms of public transport operations post COVID-19, data on sex-disaggregated mobility pattern, which includes information on journey time, travel cost, work profile can be used to inform both short term and long-term measures in response to the pandemic. Surveys should also capture the preferences of women on their preference for the type of incentives. Evidence based data is required to inform transportation reforms and influence decision makers.

¹⁵ They are high capacity three-wheelers and similar other vehicles with seating capacity of six passengers which ply in the Rural areas, unauthorised, resettlement colonies and informal settlements of Delhi (124).

4. Quantitative data findings

4.1 Survey analysis of resource poor women

Summary of research findings: difference in mobility between resource poor women and other income groups

Online survey respondents (OSR) earn 2.7 times the income of RPW

The telephone and online surveys targeted women who use public and paratransit in Delhi. Our group of RPW workers were domestic workers, street vendors, home-based workers, health and construction workers, or those who worked in grocery stores. The OSR included data entry personnel and teachers. A majority of RPW belonged to Scheduled Castes (45%), whereas OSR were predominately from the general category (46%). Most of the RPW were illiterate (65%), whereas all the OSR respondents were literate with the majority pursuing or having completed their bachelor's degrees. The average monthly income of OSR was 2.7 times that of the RPW. RPW also belonged to larger households with fewer earning members as compared to OSR who had an average household size of 4.9 with two earning members.

More than four-fifths of RPW households are dependent on public transport; travel pattern of RPW differ significantly from that of OSR

Over 84% of RPW households did not own a vehicle. Of those that did, less than two percent of RPW had access to a vehicle compared to one third of OSR, making this group of women workers disproportionately vulnerable to public transport deficiencies.

The travel patterns of RPW differed significantly from those of OSR. The current per capita trip rate (PCTR) for RPW was close to their PCTR before the pandemic¹⁶. For OSR, the PCTR before the COVID-19 pandemic was 2.07, which reduced by 20% currently. The reduced PCTR can be attributed to the occupation profile of OSR, who can work from home or make fewer work-related trips, compared to RPW. Pre-COVID-19, 20% of all trips made by OSR were for non-work-related travel, compared to 10% for RPW.

The peak travel time for RPW was between 11-12 am in the morning and 2-3pm in the afternoon. This was different compared to the overall peak times for the OSR and other bus passengers, which were between 9-10am and 5-6pm. During morning and afternoon peak hours, paratransit catered to 57% of trips by RPW workers. The average trip distances for RPW varied from 6-8.5 km by buses and 6.3 km by paratransit. However, 40% of trips by paratransit were less than 2.5km. This could imply that these women workers used paratransit due to the lack or poor frequency of buses to their destinations. Tellingly, paratransit was the next preferred mode for 86% of RPW workers.

The different travel patterns of RPW and OSR may also be explained by their type of work. While RPW worked seven days a week compared to six days a week for OSR, they both worked similar hours per week (46 hours). This indicates more dispersed work hours for RPW compared to the OSR, who were likely to have 9am-5pm jobs. Over 99% of the trips by RPW were for work purposes, compared to 97% for the OSR. This implies that in December 2020, working women in Delhi did not travel for leisure or any other purpose.

Walking is the primary mode of first and last mile connectivity for both groups of women. RPW also travelled shorter distances at 8.5km compared to the OSR who on an average travelled 10.5km, either due to their occupation profile or that their perimeter of work opportunities was limited.

Buses failing to halt and lack of enforcement of reserved seats are among the major concerns for RPW

RPW's concerns regarding bus-based travel persisted before COVID and in December 2020. They stated that buses did not halt for them after the free ride scheme was introduced (21%), followed by lack of enforcement of reserved seats for women (17%) and poor frequency of services (16%). The only difference from the pre-COVID-19 scenario was crowding in buses (21%) was not a concern post-COVID-19 (7%). Conversely, the major concerns for the OSR in the December 2020 were lack of information on the real time arrival of buses (21%),

¹⁶ There may be an underreporting of trips in the pre-COVID scenario due to recall issues.

poor frequency of services (20%), long queues at the bus stops and inability to board the bus (18%). This was also consistent with their concerns regarding bus-based travel pre-COVID-19.

The high levels of illiteracy have potential ramifications for RPW workers when it comes to accessing information about public transport, especially when considering that one-fourth of RPW did not own any phone, and 10% had access to a shared or personal smart phone. This is in direct contrast to the OSR, 94% of whom possessed smart phones. This implies that policies and strategies aimed at providing real-time information (RTI) on public transport or disseminating information need to consider the low penetration and knowledge of using smart phones. Moreover, a majority of both RPW and OSR are unaware of the Chartr application indicating the need for a dissemination policy targeted towards (different groups of) women.

In Delhi, 79% of RPW did not work during the lockdown, and their time on household and care activities increased by 55% (to an average of 5 hours per day) during the lockdown. Overall, we estimated a loss of INR 754 crores during the 68 days of lockdown. The comparison between RPW workers and OSR indicates that the former are more vulnerable and requires differentiated and targeted post-COVID-19 mobility support. Thus, the next section focuses solely on RPW workers.

4.1.1 Demography

Age, marital status, and head of households

In our sample, 63% of the respondents were between the age groups of 18-39 years (Figure 7: Age groups). In 2011 69% of women in urban Delhi fell in this age bracket (54).¹⁷ Additionally, 96% of our sample were married (Figure 8), compared to 51% for urban Delhi (54). Around 9% of the households identified as headed by a female member (Figure 9), compared to 10% for urban Delhi. Most households (27%) have 5 members (Figure 10) with an average of 1.83 earning members, whereas the average household size in urban Delhi was 4.9 (54).









Figure 10: Number of members in household



¹⁷ All data for Delhi is taken form the 2011 census

Figure 11: Number of earning members



Religion, caste, education and occupation

Of the overall respondents, 90% identified as Hindu and 10% as Muslim (Figure 12), whereas urban Delhi has 81% of individuals identifying as Hindus and 13% as Muslims (54). Those belonging to Scheduled Castes (SC) account for 45% of our sample (Figure 13), which is significantly higher than the SC population in the slums in Delhi (27%) (54) and in urban Delhi (17%) (54). In our sample, 65% of respondents identified as illiterate (Figure 14), compared to the female literacy rate in Delhi slums (59%) and urban Delhi (80.9%) (125). More than half (56%) RPW identified as regular salaried employees¹⁸ and 21% as own account workers (Figure 15). Most of the women are in the following professions: domestic workers (49%), street vendors (12%), homebased workers engaged in bangle-making (6%). Some of the other professions include shop workers, daily wage labourers, tailors, waste collectors.



¹⁸ Most domestic workers have identified as regular salaried employees.



Illiterate
Upto 4th grade
Upto 10th grade
Irregular employment
Own account worker
Own account worker
Pursuing/ completed bachelor's degree
Self-employed with at least one employee
Unemployed due to COVID-19
Other

Possession of ID cards and bank accounts

Over 99.9% of respondents possess Aadhar cards, which is an identity card that serves as proof of identity and proof of address for residents in India (126) (Figure 16). The percentage of RPW who possess Below Poverty Line (BPL) cards is low at 9%. About 88% of respondents have personal bank accounts while 1% have both personal bank accounts and joint bank accounts (Figure 17).



Figure 16: Possession of ID cards

Figure 17: Possession of bank accounts



No bank account

Individual and household income

The average income of RPW is INR 6,180 per month, while the median income is INR 6,000. About 60% of respondents earn between INR 5,000-7,499 (Figure 18). At the household level, the average income is INR 12,135 per month. One fourth of the RPW reported monthly household incomes between INR 10,000 to 12,499 (Figure 19).



Household vehicle ownership, possession of driving license and personal use of household vehicle

Over 84% of households do not own a vehicle (Figure 20), and only 0.4% of RPW possess a driving license. The lack of ownership and access to personal vehicles(Figure 21) along with exceptionally low registration for driving licenses, makes RPW disproportionately dependent on public transport and paratransit.

Figure 20: Household vehicle ownership



Figure 21: Household vehicles for personal use



Working hours and days

During the lockdown in May 2020, 79% of the RPW did not work and we estimated a loss of INR 754 crores during the 68 days of lockdown. At the time of the surveys, RPW were working close to the same number of hours as in a pre-COVID-19 scenario (Figure 22). However, six percent more women were working between 3-5 hours currently as compared to the pre-COVID-19 scenario.

Figure 22: Working hours



Figure 23: Working days



Household and care work

RPW spent an average of five hours in May 2020 in household and care work, which had reduced to three hours in December 2020. Over 95% of RPW bore the responsibility of household and care work seven days a week across all time periods (Figure 24, Figure 25).









4.1.2 Phone ownership and usage

Over 76% of RPW had access to a phone, with 38% having access to a basic personal phone (Figure 26). Only 10% of RPW had access to a smart phone either personal or shared. Around 75% of RPW used phones to make and receive calls/ SMS (Figure 28). Only 2% of RPW knew how to make digital payments on their phone and 7% were familiar with installing applications and using them (Figure 29).

Figure 26: Type of phone

Figure 27: Switch off data while travelling





Shared smart phone

Do not have a phone

Figure 28: Phone usage



Figure 29: Phone usage and know how



Frequency of use of DTC and Chartr applications

Over 71% and 72% of RPW are unaware of the DTC application and Chartr application respectively, indicating the need for targeted dissemination of information.



4.1.3 Travel Behaviour

Travel behaviour for the month of December 2020 has been described in the section below:

Per capita trip rate, trip frequency and travel purpose

The per capita trip rate (PCTR) is 1.9. About 72% of all trips are made seven days a week (Figure 32). While 99% of all trips made are work related trips (Figure 33). The RPW did not make any household and care trips during this period. This could be attributed to the household and care trips being performed by men because of the pandemic. Due to majority of trips being work related, the data has been categorised as work and non-work trips.







Travel mode and first and last mile connectivity

One of the criteria for the selection of RPW for the survey was that they were public transport users. Thus, the predominant mode of transport is bus-based transport, that accounts for 81% of all trips followed by shared autorickshaw/e-rickshaw/Gramin Sewa at 16% (Figure 34). A travel purpose disaggregated analysis of travel modes indicates that 80% of work trips are undertaken by bus and 19% by IPT. Most RPW walk to access their primary mode of transport with walk trips accounting for 93% of all first/last mile connectivity trips (Figure 35).

Figure 34: Travel mode







Intermediate stops

RPW report 16% of trips with one or more intermediate stops (Figure 36). While this number may be considered low, a plausible reason could be that the RPW do not make many household trips as stated earlier.

Figure 36: Intermediate stops



Trip timings

Approximately 12% of women travel between 11am-12pm in the morning and 11.6% between 2pm-3pm, making these the peak travel times for women (Figure 37). However, the peak hours of female bus passengers were observed between 9am-10am and 4pm-6pm for routes traveling towards the city and 9am-10am and 2pm-3pm for routes operating away from the city.

DTC and cluster buses have 35 seats in AC buses and 40 seats in non-AC buses, of which 25% are reserved for women. Therefore, nine seats in air conditioned (AC) buses and 10 seats in non-AC buses are reserved for women. There were 7 female passengers between 9am-10am and four to six pm for routes traveling towards

the city. On the other hand, there were six passengers between 9am-10 am and eight passengers between two-four pm for routes operating away from the city. However, it must be noted that reservation of seats was not strictly enforced after bus services were resumed and women expressed inability to board buses once the seating capacity was full.¹⁹









Travel duration of trip

Around 73% of the trips have a travel time of 31-40 minutes (Figure 39). The average trip time is 34 minutes, which is lower than the mean trip time for OSR. This indicates that RPW prefer to work closer to home either to reduce travel cost or travel time.

¹⁹ Buses permitted full seating capacity and no standing passengers.

Figure 39: Travel duration (minutes)



Travel cost

In December 2020, 79% of RPW did not incur any cost for travel (Figure 40), which could be attributed to Delhi's free bus ride scheme for women. Considering the share of travel cost as a percentage of individual monthly income: 10 % of the RPW spent between 0.1 and 4% of their monthly income on travel (Figure 41). Around 36% of paratransit users spent INR 10 per trip.

Figure 40: Travel cost per month (INR)







4.1.4 Travel behaviour pre-COVID-19

Travel behaviour of RPW in the period of December 2019 is analysed in the following section

Trip purpose and PCTR

Pre-COVID-19, RPW made twice the number of work trips per day when compared to household and care trips. On a weekly basis, 90% of all trips made by RPW were work trips, whereas household and care trips accounted for eight percent of all trips (Figure 42). This implies that while work trips are a daily occurrence, other trips are not. A more serious implication is that women in Delhi make very few non-work-related trips, restricting their travel to essential purposes.

The PCTR for RPW pre-COVID-19 was 1.88²⁰, which was marginally lower than their current travel PCTR of 1.90. This could be attributed to our sample, wherein 49% are domestic workers. In-depth interviews suggests that domestic workers who have lost previous employment were working multiple jobs to make up the loss in incomes. In December 2020, RPW worked 44 hours per week, which was 5% lower than pre-COVID-19.

Figure 42: Trip purpose pre-COVID-19



4.1.5 Waiting time

Waiting time for bus pre-COVID-19 and currently (December 2020)

About 22% of the RPW reported waiting for more than 10 minutes for a bus (Figure 43). RPW cited low frequency of buses (34%), inability to board buses due to overcrowding (27%) and buses not halting at the stops (24%) as the reasons for the increased waiting time (Figure 44).

Figure 43: Waiting time pre-COVID-19 and currently (minutes)



 $^{^{\}rm 20}$ This could be underestimated by the respondents due to recall issues.

Figure 44: Reasons for increased waiting time for buses



Waiting time for paratransit pre-COVID-19 and currently (December 2020)

RPW reported marginal variations in the waiting times for paratransit before and after the COVID-19 pandemic (Figure 45).

Figure 45: Waiting time for paratransit (minutes)



4.1.6 Next preferred mode of transport

An overwhelming 86% of RPW preferred paratransit as their next mode of travel after buses (Figure 46). The waiting time and availability of service emerged as a critical parameter as 70% of RPW reported waiting less than five minutes for paratransit compared to 42% for buses (Figure 47). Over 13% of RPW did not select another mode, suggesting that they may not consider another alternative to buses (perhaps due to affordability concerns). However, 25% of RPW spent less than INR 10 per trip, with 21% paying between INR 11-20 (Figure 49). Travel costs could emerge as a barrier in using paratransit, as 79% of RPW do not incur any travel costs and may continue to (walk and) travel by buses.

Figure 46: Next preferred mode



■ Current ■ Next preferred mode



Figure 47: Waiting time (minutes)

■ bus ■ Next preferred mode

Figure 48: Average travel time per trip (minutes)



Figure 49: Average travel cost per trip (INR)



4.1.7 Concerns regarding travel by buses and paratransit

There was a continuum in the concerns expressed by RPW regarding bus and paratransit travel before and after the COVID-19 pandemic. The three major concerns in December 2020 were that buses did not halt for women (21%), reserved seats for women were not enforced (17%) and poor frequency of bus services (16%). These persisted from before the pandemic, with one exception: crowding in buses Figure 50, Figure 51).

The concern around buses not halting for female passengers was attributed to the free bus ride scheme. A street vendor said, "bus drivers don't allow us to board the bus with your bundles. He doesn't even halt the bus for us. We have to go very early in the morning because the buses remain vacant in the morning. That is why we get seats. If we get late and try to take a bus after 12, the bus drivers won't allow us to board. Bus drivers don't allow us to board buses for long distances."

A counter-intuitive observation was that more women expressed their inability to board buses pre-COVID-19. This could be linked to their concerns regarding crowded buses in general, and a possible shift to paratransit in their peak hours, currently. Similarly, rash driving was expressed as a major concern by RPW, followed by the low availability of shared services and overcrowded shared rickshaws/ Gramin Sewas.

Figure 50: Concerns regarding bus-based travel



A: Buses do not serve my area

- B: Buses have poor frequency
- C: Safe pedestrian access to and from the bus stop
- D: Availability of first and last mile connectivity options
- E: No information on the real-time arrival of buses
- F: No bus stops or poorly maintained bus stops with inadequate lighting
- G: Sexual harassment faced at the bus stop
- H: Long queues at the bus stops, and inability to board the bus
- I: Insufficient or unavailable clean hygienic toilets in proximity to bus stop
- J: Buses are crowded/filled to seating capacity
- K: Reserved seats for women are not enforced
- L: Sexual harassment faced inside the bus
- M: Driver does not stop the bus for women passengers due to free service

N: Na/other

- O: Driver/ conductor does not wear a mask
- P: Co-passengers do not wear a mask

Figure 51: Concerns regarding paratransit travel



- A: IPT does not serve my area
- B: Low availability of shared IPT
- C: Poor quality pedestrian infrastructure access to and from the shared IPT stand
- D: IPT drivers do not follow the meter
- E: Increased rickshaw/ Gramin Sewa fares due to the pandemic
- F: Shared rickshaws/ Gramin Sewas are overcrowded
- G: Rash driving by the shared IPT vehicle driver
- H: Sexual harassment in the shared IPT vehicle
- I:NA
- J: Co-passengers do not wear masks
- K: Driver does not wear a mask

4.2 Survey analysis of paratransit drivers

Summary of survey with paratransit service providers

Paratransit operators predominantly belong to marginalised castes (47% belong to OBC) and are all married with more than half of them being the sole earning members in their household. Their current monthly income is between INR 17,700 - 35,000. In December 2020, they were earning three-fourths of their income before the COVID-19 pandemic which was between INR 23,000 - 45,000.

The COVID-19 pandemic had severe repercussions on the operations of IPT service providers. While they had resumed working for 11-13 hours per day and operating kilometres had increased by 11%, their daily ridership was 75% of pre-COVID-19 scenario. We estimated that paratransit operators lost around 240-260 working hours in a month during the lockdown. The number of passengers reduced by 13% compared to pre COVID-19 numbers. An estimated two lakh registered paratransit vehicles lost approximately INR 1,741 crores in nine months since 24th March 2020.

Comparison of male and female e-rickshaw operators

The comparison of male and female e-rickshaw drivers revealed that Vahinis' routes are 46% shorter, they work at least 2.5 hours lesser, serve 27% fewer passengers and earn 28% less than male operators (Table 10). Vahinis make 72% of what a male e-rickshaw operator earns in a day. This loss can be attributed to a safety, household, and care tax i.e., women are constrained by unremunerative household and care work, and are often constrained in carrying four passengers due to misbehaviour by male passengers, sitting in the front with the driver. This amounts to a loss of approximately INR 5,000 per month.

Findings related to qualitative analysis

The compliance to COVID-19 safety protocols was found to be poor as the IPT operators found it expensive to sanitise their vehicles after every ride. Plastic sheets separating the driver from the passengers were not installed and drivers generally wore masks below their noses. While male e-rickshaw operators maintain that women feel safe in their vehicle, they admit to rash driving. This corresponds to the survey finding that rash driving is the most pressing concern for women passengers. Conversely, Vahinis report facing sexual harassment from male passengers sitting in the front. While a few Vahinis possess smartphones, these are shared with household members and used for online classes for their children. Two of the Vahinis have registered on an app-based e-rickshaw booking platform called Oye!

Table 9: Current operational characteristics of male paratransit operators

	Average	Ranges	
Route length (km)	13	8.5 - 15.5	
Details (Per day)			
Vehicle trips per day	14	11 - 20	
Passengers per day	53	25 – 70	
Female passengers per day	15	11 - 19	
Working hours in a day	12	10 - 13.5	
Distance travelled in a day (km)	182	145 - 270	
Revenue per day (INR)	903	580 - 1,160	
Operating expenses per day (INR)	425	165-649	
Details (Per trip)			
Passengers per trip	4	1-6	
Revenue per trip (INR)	63	34-90	
Operating expenses per trip (INR)	30	10-47	
Distance travelled per hour (km)	15	12-23	
Details (Per month)			
Revenue per month (INR)	27,400	17,700 - 35,000	
Operating expenses per month (INR)	13,000	5,000 - 19,700	

Table 10: Comparison of male and female operated e-rickshaws

	Female	Male	Average Difference
Route length (km)	4.5	8.5	-46%
Details (Per day)			
Vehicle trips per day	20.0	16.0	
Passengers per day	37	51	-27%
Female passengers per day	48% ²¹	31%	
Working hours in a day	7.5	10	-24%
Distance travelled in a day (km)	90	136	
Revenue per day (INR)	420	580	-28%
Operating expenses per day (INR)	325	165	
Details (Per trip)			
Passengers per trip	1.9	3.1	
Revenue per trip (INR)	21.0	36.0	

²¹ As a %age of total passengers.



Operating expenses per trip (INR)	16.0	10.0	
Distance covered per hour (km)	12.0	14.0	-12%
Details (Per month)			
Revenue per month (INR)	9,100-15,200	15,200-21,200	-28%
Operating expenses per month (INR)	9,000-12,100 ²²	4,200-5,900 ²³	+49%

Note: The numbers are rounded off to the nearest decimal

 $^{^{\}rm 22}$ The operating expenses are higher due to EMIs paid for the vehicle.

²³ Male operators have reported defaulting on EMIs, resulting in lower operational expenses.

Figure 52: Paratransit vehicle routes



Note: These are indicative and have been created based on the stages identified by the drivers.

4.2.1 Respondent characteristics (Male operators)

Age, caste and education

About 97% (29) of the IPT drivers were in the age group of 26-59. IPT operators predominantly belonged to Other Backward Class (47%) (Figure 53). The highest level of education attained by the IPT operators is 10th grade. Among IPT operators, 27% have studied up to 4th grade.

Figure 53: Caste



Head of the household and earning members

All respondents were married. Approximately 93% (28) of the respondents identified as the head of their household. The average household size of the respondents was seven, which is higher than Delhi's average household size of 5.02. More than half (53%) of them were the sole breadwinners of their family, 43% reported a second earning member. On an average, each IPT operator supported three dependents.

ID cards and bank accounts

All the IPT operators possessed an Aadhaar Card (Figure 54). None of the respondents possessed a BPL card. Among the IPT drivers 29 out of 30 had personal bank accounts.



Figure 54: Possession of government ID cards

4.2.2 Operating characteristics

Approximately 70% of the paratransit drivers were working during the lockdown and their data was analysed to understand their operational details during that period.

The drivers tended to own their vehicle, except auto-rickshaw drivers (7). The respondents did not own any other vehicle. All auto-rickshaws, Gramin Sewa vehicles and Phat-Phats run on CNG.

Route length

The average route length ranged from 8.5 km-15.5 km, with 145 km- 270 km operated per day depending on the type of vehicle. Paratransit drivers are operating 9-11% longer distances than in 2019 (125km- 237km). Currently (December 2020), paratransit drivers were operating on the same route as they were pre-COVID-19. Gramin Sewas operated longer distances as compared to the other vehicles.

Working hours and days

Paratransit drivers have resumed the same number of working hours (10-13.5 hours/ day) as the pre-COVID-19 (Figure 55). However, their working hours decreased by 63-73% during the lockdown (Figure 55). Phat-Phat and Gramin Sewa operators worked for longer hours as compared to e-rickshaw and auto-rickshaw operators.

All e-rickshaws ply in shifts. They work from 7.45am to 12.45pm and 5.30pm to 10.15pm, while other IPT operators work continuously between 7.20am to 8.00pm throughout the day. The current operating schedule is the same as in 2019.

Currently, the morning peak hours reported are from 9.50 am to 11.00 am and evening peak hours from 5.00pm to 6.30pm. IPT operators noted that women tend to use IPT predominantly during the off-peak hours - from 11.00 am to 1.00 pm.

While the respondents went out to work every day during the lockdown, the effective number of working days ranged from eight to ten days cumulatively²⁴ (Figure 56). On an average, each driver lost around 240-260 working hours in a month during the lockdown.



Passengers

While paratransit drivers had resumed working for the same number of hours before COVID-19 (Figure 57), their ridership was 70% that of pre-COVID-19 (Figure 57). However, a marginal increase in female ridership (from 28% to 29%) was reported. The drivers noted that women used auto-rickshaws and e-rickshaws more than Gramin Sewas and Phat-Phats.

²⁴ Considering 12 working hours in a day.

Figure 57: Change in vehicle trips and ridership per day



Gross earnings

The drivers continued to operate during the lockdown; their monthly earnings contracted by 52%-59% during this time²⁵. They reported earning 1.2-1.7 times more per hour during the lockdown (Figure 58). This could be attributed to fare increases during this period to compensate for the lower working hours. In December 2020, more than half of the operators had increased their fares at an average rate of INR five per stage. The average monthly revenue in December 2020 ranged between Rs. 17,500- 35,000, which was three-fourths of the pre-lockdown period (Figure 58).



Figure 58 Average revenue per month (INR)

Note: The monthly earnings calculated using daily incomes

Operating expenses

In December 2020, operating expenses ranged between INR 5,000- INR 19,700 per month, which was seven percent lower than before the pandemic (Figure 59). Lower vehicle rents and decreased fuel prices²⁶ could account for this difference. However, operating costs constituted a higher share of their earnings in December 2020 (28 to 56%) compared to 24 to 51% pre-COVID-19.

²⁵ This was counterintuitive as a stringent lockdown was implemented in the NCT of Delhi.

²⁶ The price of CNG has declined from INR 45.2/kg in 2019 (127)to INR 42.7/kg in 2020 (128).

Figure 59: Average operating expenses per month (INR)



Loss in revenue due to COVID-19

We estimated a cumulative loss of INR 1,741 crores for 200,000 registered vehicles in the nine months since 24th March 2020 (Table 11).

Table 11: Revenue lost due to COVID-19 (INR)

Type of IPT vehicles	Number of vehicles (2020)	Revenue lost (in INR crores)
Auto-rickshaws	121,140	
E-Rickshaws	74,441	
Gramin Sewa	6,153	1,741
Phat-Phats	320	
Total	202,054	

Source:(129); (16);(130)

Note: It is assumed that the growth rate of Gramin Sewas and Phat-Phats is negligible from 2018.

4.2.3 Female e-rickshaw operators (Vahinis)

Female e-rickshaw operators are known as 'Vahinis". SEWA supports five Vahinis in Delhi and all of them were interviewed. Our findings were validated with organisations such as SMV Green Solutions, which works towards improving women's participation as e-rickshaw drivers in India.

Demography and household information

All the Vahinis belonged to marginalised socio-economic groups. They owned their vehicle, were married, and were educated up to 10th grade²⁷, with three of them identifying as Dalits. Three of the five Vahinis considered themselves as the head of their household along with their husband because of their contribution to household expenses. All the Vahinis had Aadhaar cards, ration cards, voter ID cards and PAN cards, and personal bank accounts. Only one respondent had a BPL card. There were two earning members in their household including themselves.

4.2.4 Operational characteristics of Vahinis

Travel distance

The average route distance of female operators was 4.5 km, and they primarily operated between Jahangirpuri and Azadpur. They covered approximately 90 km per day over five to nine hours and made over 7.5 hours and made 20 trips per day. They work between 8.45am-1:15pm, take a break of around four hours and resume work between 4.00 p.m-7.00 p.m. The in-depth interviews highlighted that Vahinis start working late and finish early because due to cooking and other household responsibilities.

²⁷ Where education levels were provided.

Passengers

The average ridership per day for female operators was 37 passengers. Vahinis carried 27% fewer passengers than male operators. They stated that passengers hesitate to ride in their e-rickshaw due to gender stereotypes of women being poor drivers. "Once I asked some girls that why don't you sit in my e-rickshaw. I am also going to the same place. They answered that they are scared to travel in my vehicle. We do not trust lady drivers." In spite of this, women constituted close to half of the Vahinis' passengers (49%).

Incomes

The average monthly income of Vahinis ranged between INR 9,100-15,200. They earned INR 5,000 less than male e-rickshaw operators due to a household, care work and safety tax. Women have the added burden of household and care activities; in general, this resulted in them working approximately 2.5 hours less than men in a day. As one Vahini observed *"I start around 8.30 am or 9am after cooking food for my children. Then, I come back home at 12 p.m. and spend some time with my children. Then, I work from 4 p.m. to 7p.m. in the evening"*.

Women in India are stereotyped as bad drivers. Vahinis noted that passengers avoid their e-rickshaws as women are stereotyped as bad drivers. Also, while men allowed five passengers in their e-rickshaw (four in the back and one in the front next to the driver), women drivers often carried four passengers at a time because of passenger misbehaviour.

Operating expenses

Women spent around 77% of their income on operating expenses. Our in-depth interviews observed that erickshaws are prone to technical issues especially regarding the battery. *"There is an issue with my battery since starting. It only worked fine for some days and then suddenly the mileage went down to 30-35 km. I complained about the battery. They fixed it and told me that it will work fine. But again, it worked well for some days. I usually face an issue with my battery every month."* Thus, maintenance costs are high for erickshaws.

Due to space constraints, Vahinis often utilise public parking and charging facilities which further amount to INR 70 -130 per day. One Vahini noted *"I give INR 70 per day for charging. I have an instalment of INR 250 per day for the loan of this rickshaw. My savings are only INR 30-40 in a day. I buy groceries for home and milk for my youngest daughter. After these expenses, if I do not save enough money to pay for parking, then I have to cover that next day by working more."*

Process of becoming a Vahini

To become a Vahini, a prospective applicant is required to attain both the learner's and driver's license as well as a PSV badge. A prospective Vahinis generally pays INR 2,500 to an agent to navigate the process of obtaining these licences. Under the new EV policy, a purchase incentive of INR 30,000 is provided to the registered owner of the e-rickshaw, who is also eligible for an interest subvention of five percent (131). On purchase of the e-rickshaw, the Vahinis must register the vehicle and obtain a fitness certificate. To become a Vahini, a prospective applicant is required to attain both the learner's and driver's license as well as a PSV badge. One of the major issues that prospective Vahinis face in obtaining the necessary clearances, is navigating various sections in the regional transport office (RTO).

Figure 60: Process and cost of becoming a Vahini



4.2.5 Perception of male and female drivers

COVID-19 safe behaviour

All the male drivers claimed that they wore masks and used hand sanitisers while working. However, enumerators revealed that only a few had a sanitiser on hand. Vahinis on the other hand, covered their faces with a piece of cloth. Two-thirds of the male respondents claimed that they sanitised their vehicle at least twice in a day, while all Vahinis reported that they sanitise their vehicle regularly. The rest found the cost of sanitising a vehicle- approximately INR 400 in a month (equivalent to half a day's earnings) too expensive. Additionally, none of the surveyed vehicles had a plastic shield separating the driver from the passengers.

The interviewees suggested that the government could distribute free COVID-19 safety kits, consisting of masks, hand sanitiser and vehicle disinfectants, and offer the plastic shields and a thermal device at subsidised rates. They were willing to pay around INR 100-150 for a thermal device (actual cost of which is INR 1,000-2,000).

COVID-safe behaviour among passengers

The respondents highlighted that all passengers did not follow COVID-19 safety rules. However, it was unclear if they refused passengers without masks. They suggested that the government enforce the COVID-19 safety rules strictly as some commuters were afraid to use paratransit.

Women's safety

Male IPT operators considered their vehicle safe for women but admitted to driving rashly to reach their destination quickly. However, there was little to no mention of safety concerns from the perspective of sexual harassment. An e-rickshaw operator stated he ensured that women passengers sit together so that they feel more comfortable.

Female e-rickshaw operators reported facing sexual harassment from male passengers. One of them explained that she faced harassment when she allowed a fifth passenger to sit in the front of the vehicle. She said, *"So, four passengers sat in the back and one took a seat next to me. He started to touch himself inappropriately. I told him to sit properly quite a few times. But he continued doing the same."* Vahinis had not observed *many* instances of sexual harassment of female passengers in their vehicle and claimed to act proactively if they *"sensed that something was not right"*.

Free-bus ride scheme

The respondents highlighted that their female ridership had decreased when the Delhi government launched the free bus ride scheme and felt that the government should roll back the scheme. They noted that female passengers have started using paratransit again after the lockdown due to safety concerns.

Free-bus scheme for women in IPT

Respondents were asked to provide their feedback on a potential scheme to subsidise travel for women in IPT by issuing pink tickets and they can be compensated on a monthly/ weekly basis for these rides. Female e-rickshaw operators felt that this might help increase their ridership as women might start using their e-rickshaws for shorter trips. Both male and female drivers were sceptical of timely reimbursements from the government.

Digital payment

Three-fifths of the male operators were sceptical about digital payments as it could be time-consuming in areas with slow network. None used digital payments since their passengers used cash and did not make digital payments for small amounts.

Global Positioning System (GPS)

While all surveyed IPT operators knew that the government has made GPS compulsory in IPT vehicles and think that it can help them gain trust of their passengers, only 10 of the 30 male operators have a GPS in their vehicle as they considered it an expensive investment at INR 3,000.

All female e-rickshaw operators have a GPS device installed in their vehicle. Vahinis had also paid for CCTV cameras, but their installation was delayed due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Female operators feared that the size of the CCTV cameras may make them susceptible to theft.

Ownership and use of phones

Two of the female operators owned smartphones, while one had a basic phone. Female operators shared their phones with their children. They do not carry their phone with them while working as their children need it to attend online classes. Women primarily used their smartphone for calls and WhatsApp. Two of the Vahinis had also registered with the 'Oye Rickshaw' platform, which provides an app-based e-rickshaw booking facility. Women were taught how to use the Oye rickshaw application and to accept or reject rides.

5. Recommendations and policy implications

Both desk research and survey findings have consistently highlighted that RPW were inordinately affected by the pandemic than any other section of society. Reports suggest that male informal workers have been recovering at a faster pace than their female counterparts (32). Further, our survey findings highlight the transport needs of RPW and gaps in accessibility and safety for women in public transport and paratransit. The Taskforce for Safety of Women in Public Transport created under the aegis of the Dialogue and Development Commission of Delhi (DDC) can be leveraged for implementing the recommendations of this research (Table 12).

Table 12: Recommendations to improve mobility and access for RPW

Recommendation		Years	
	0-1	1-3	
A. Cross thematic recommendations			
1. Partner with women's unions, membership-based organisations			
2. Improve digital literacy of RPW			
3. Create a dedicated women's safety team at DTC's command-and-control centre			
4. Provide a multi-modal subsidy for RPW			
B. Recommendations for bus-based transport			
5. Improve reliability and seat availability in buses			
C. Recommendations for paratransit services			
6. Increase electric vehicle adoption amongst resource poor women			

5.1 Partner with working women's unions and membership-based organisations (MBOs)

Women's unions have a long history of advocating for women's rights and working with governmental organisations to improve their access to resources. For example, in India, the Mahila Housing Trust and SEWA work with RPW to organise and empower them to improve their surroundings by facilitating access to public housing and services (132).

The Delhi government can create and maintain a database of working women's unions and MBOs who can facilitate effective uptake of public transportation schemes by disseminating information across a wide network of RPW. Simultaneously, they can bridge the gap between transport policy makers and RPW by providing bottom-up perspectives, to co-create inclusive transport polices.

5.2 Improve digital literacy of resource poor women

Real time of arrival and departure of buses allows passengers to plan their travel efficiently. In addition to passenger information system (PIS) boards at bus stops, ETA is usually relayed though websites and mobile phone applications. Moreover, in the wake of COVID-19, cashless transactions have gained importance to help maintain physical distancing. It is thus imperative to impart digital literacy to RPW as it will not only help streamline their mobility patterns but also expedite participation in a fast-digitising world. Transport think tanks can partner with MBOs, unions and civil society organisations and adopt a training of trainers (ToT) model to train community mobilisers and volunteers on using the Chartr application, navigating Google Maps, making digital payments amongst others. These community mobilisers and volunteers will in turn teach RPW in their localities.

5.3 Create a dedicated team for women's safety in the Command-and-Control Centre (CCC)

The Delhi Government plans to set up a CCC for women's safety²⁸. Buses will include features such as CCTV cameras, display for the driver, GPS devices, audio communication devices for the driver and conductor, hooter, strobe, and 10 SOS buttons. The CCC will monitor buses through video surveillance and an automatic vehicle tracking system. When a passenger, driver or conductor presses the SOS button, an alert will be sent to the CCC, where the first responder will forward the alert to the respective agency (police, fire, ambulance), along with the GPS coordinates of the bus via SMS and email alerts (133). The Transport Department has also initiated a project to install SOS buttons and GPS devices in auto-rickshaws, which will be tracked by the Police control room or the CCC. The CCC presents an opportunity to integrate multiple channels of registering complaints and helplines.

At present, complaints regarding public transport in Delhi can be reported online through the government's Public Grievance Monitoring System (PGMS), or by calling DTC's central control room. In 2019, DTC launched the DTC app²⁹ that also allowed passengers to lodge complaints, following which an alert is sent to the depot manager. Necessary action will be taken and the complainant will be informed of the same (134). DIMTS also has a separate phone number and system.

Learnings can be drawn from Goa's Transport Department that launched an SMS based complaint system. An individual can register a complaint by sending an SMS to the specified number with a brief description of the grievance and the registration number of the public transport vehicle. The person will receive regular status updates on the complaint via SMS. Codes associated with the jurisdiction of each assistant director of transport will be provided so that the complaint may be filed with the appropriate body (135). Another example is the SMS and phone call complaint mechanism launched by the Dakshina Kannada Regional Transport Authority to address complaints made with respect to autorickshaw or bus services/ fares (136).

A dedicated safety team can be set up at the CCC to receive SOS alerts and complaints related to women's travel in buses and paratransit. Standard operating protocols can be set up to ensure timely response depending on emergency or other complaints.

5.4 Provide a multimodal mobility subsidy

The major concerns reported by RPW with respect to bus-based transit are poor frequency and seat availability. While the Delhi Government has implemented the free bus ride scheme for women to improve their access to bus based public transport our survey findings suggest that at least 19% of their trips are by paratransit. Thus, while the Delhi Transport Department expands bus fleet, a multi mobility subsidy of INR 600 per month for RPW workers can be considered in the interim to give them the choice of traveling by different modes. This amount was calculated based on the percentage of monthly work trips undertaken by paratransit and percentage of bus-based trips with waiting times greater than 10 minutes.

There are 4.0 lakh female home-based workers (137), 1.05-1.2 lakh female street vendors (138) and 5.0 lakh domestic workers (139) in Delhi. The identification of beneficiaries can begin with RPW enrolled in the PMJDY. Subsequent beneficiaries can be identified through proxy databases such as those created for construction workers, databases of MBOs and eventually expanded to all women with ration cards etc. The total subsidy would amount to INR 62 crores per month for informal women workers in Delhi.

5.5 Improve reliability and seat availability in buses

Along with the proposed passenger information boards at bus stops and the Chartr application, a free SMS based real time information (RTI) system for buses must be introduced³⁰. This will benefit the 90% of RPW without access to smart phones.

Several initiatives aimed at improving the safety of women in buses have been implemented in Delhi. These include deploying 11,000 bus marshals in DTC and cluster buses during the evening and night shifts to prevent

 $^{^{\}mbox{\tiny 28}}$ A project management unit is expected to be set up within a quarter.

²⁹ The authors found the DTC app difficult to navigate

³⁰ A SMS system was first proposed in 2011, where a passenger could register to receive push SMS for specific bus routes.

and address harassment of women (141), reservation of 25% of seats for women, ladies special buses, display of women's helpline number in buses, encouraging female conductors (484 in DTC) and bus drivers (one in DTC) (140). Other recent initiatives are outlined in Section 5.3.

Our survey findings revealed that RPW expressed concerns regarding crowded buses (22%) and enforcement of seat reservation (10%) before the COVID-19 pandemic. As the Delhi government increases the number of buses it is essential to ensure safer and comfortable travel for female passengers.

A policy for women and differently abled only doors can be implemented. This will restrict the boarding/alighting by men to the middle section of the bus. This system has been implemented in Indian cities in Kerala and Bangalore. The goal is two-fold: reduce sexual harassment by segregating boarding and alighting as well as enable women to access the reserved seats directly.

Buses have 25% of seats in the front reserved for women. One of the responsibilities of the bus marshals³¹ is to ensure that reserved seats are not appropriated by men. A dedicated seat for the bus marshal can be provided in the middle of the bus, making it easier for women to approach the bus marshal. Safety in buses need not be restricted to safety from sexual harassment. A street vendor noted "*We face a lot of issues in boarding and deboarding with our bundles. Sometimes we fall from the buses and injure our legs.*" Simultaneously, there is a need to create an effective complaint and redressal system as detailed in Section 5.3.

5.6 Increase electric vehicle adoption amongst resource poor women

One of the major concerns reported in the survey was poor frequency of buses and paratransit. Our research has shown that only 65% of developed area in Delhi is served by buses. Globally research has shown that paratransit often is the main mode of public transport in the periphery of cities and in small and medium sized cities (142).

Vahinis or female e-rickshaw drivers can be encouraged as a gender and climate sensitive mode of transport. This will improve the reach and connectivity of public transport, create employment for RPW, support the Delhi government achieve its goals of the EV policy and provide a safer mode of transport for women. As one passenger observed "Sometimes male rickshaw operators may misbehave. Vahinis will understand the issues and problems faced by women."

Organisations like SEWA in partnership with SMV Green solutions, are encouraging women to take up the profession. SEWA advocates and negotiates on behalf of informal women workers in addition to organising them into co-operatives and helping them apply for government benefits. They extend financial assistance in the form of loans and provide them a framework to build up savings. SMV Green Solutions provides capacity building and training to Vahinis and guides them through the licensing process.

We partnered with SEWA and SMV Green Solutions to propose financial and procedural reforms to Delhi's EV Policy (2020) to encourage RPW to consider becoming a Vahinis as a viable occupation. The Delhi Government³², Delhi Finance Corporation (DFC) can implement a pilot project in partnership with MBOs and their financial institutions³³. The pilot project can consider the following incentives.

Financial subsidies

The driving license fee must be waived to encourage more woman commercial drivers. The subsidy for Vahinis should be provided as a down payment and the amount increased to INR 50,000. This can be transferred to the financial institution instead of the potential owner. The down payment along with the 5% interest subvention will reduce the EMIs by 53%, and result in estimated savings of around INR 130,000 over 34-months for each Vahini. After the Vahini has completed the driving test, DFC with support from the

³¹ Bus marshals are deployed in buses to facilitate enforcement of reservation of seats and as first respondents to crimes such as sexual harassment and theft.

³² Especially the Department of Women and Child Development and the Transport Department.

³³ The financial institutions should register with the Delhi Finance Corporation (DFC).

financial institution can pre-approve the down payment, and the financial institution can extend the reduced loan amount.

Streamline the licensing process

The introduction of a single window clearance system, preferably manned by a female employee, can streamline and fast-track the process of obtaining licences. This will enable savings of INR 1,500 that the applicant must otherwise pay for the agent's fee.

Reservation of parking spaces for Vahinis at metro stations

The Delhi Metro Rail Corporation (DMRC) has partnered with SmartE to provide an e-rickshaw services at 29 metro stations for first and last mile connectivity. They plan to extend the service to more metro stations in the future (143). At present, DMRC has a fleet of over 1,000 e-rickshaws operating at subsidised rates from metro stations. Passengers can pay digitally for these rides (143). However, parking spaces for unorganised e-rickshaw operators in the vicinity of the metro stations are largely informal. Designated spaces can be provided to Vahinis in well-lit locations close to the entry/exit points of the metro stations to create visibility and ensure safety for both the Vahini and female passengers. For future contracts, DMRC should mandate that 25-33% of the fleet be operated by Vahinis.

Institute creches to increase the agency of Vahinis

Delhi is home to 10,757 Anganwadis, which are operational between 9am to 1:30pm (144). Anganwadis were established in 1975 under the Integrated Child Development Services Programme (ICDS) of the Ministry of Women and Child Development (MWCD) to reduce childhood and maternal malnutrition (145). Today, the programme has since been expanded to include children up to six years of age.

The Anganwadis could cater to children up to 14 years of age, and the timings extended to 4pm to encourage RPW to resume work. Most Anganwadi buildings are rented (144), and a needs assessment must be undertaken to gauge the efficacy of the existing facilities.

The Main Bhi Dilli campaign proposes decentralised multipurpose community centres ranging from community level (for a population of 0-5,000) to ward level (for a population 50,000-100,000). One of the functions of these community centres is supplementary services for children up to 14 years (146), which could also include creches.

Waive parking/charging fees for Vahinis

As part of its EV policy, the government has directed energy operators to set up charging stations in public parking zones in Delhi. A subsidy for parking and charging facilities in public parking zones can be provided to the Vahinis during the loan period of 34 months³⁴.

Review rickshaw bans on major roads

The Traffic Police has banned e-rickshaws from plying and parking on 236 roads (147) in the capital city in a bid to reduce congestion and traffic jams. These need to be reconsidered as an e-rickshaw serves 14 passenger trips/sqm/day compared to 0.2 passenger trips/ sqm/ day by a car.

Safety of Vahinis

At present, SEWA installs CCTV cameras in the e-rickshaws. However, this may not ensure immediate response during an emergency. An alternative would be to instal a SOS button and connect it to the CCC in the Transport Department. The mechanism detailed in section 5.3 can be used for SOS alerts raised by Vahinis and passengers.

Skills development of Vahinis

³⁴ Average time taken to repay loan on an e-rickshaw.

The Transport Department can organize targeted skills development training for Vahinis on traffic rules, e-rickshaw repairs, battery health and management, self-defence and gender rights.

Partnership with schools and aggregators

MBOs can initiate partnerships between Vahinis and primary schools to provide a stable source of income. Partnerships with aggregators (such as SmartE) can also be initiated to facilitate more rides and passengers.

5.7 Learnings for cities in South Asia

Private buses and paratransit are the predominant modes of public transport in LICs such as Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Pakistan and Nepal. Public buses in these cities do not have the capacity to cater to travel demand, leading to poor frequency of service, crowding, sexual harassment, lack of seat availability, and use of more expensive paratransit services.

The research findings and recommendations in Delhi are relevant to other cities in India and South Asia. Peer to peer learning between cities can fast track gender responsive mobility measures in the wake of the current COVID-19 pandemic.

The partnerships between women's MBOs, unions, and urban transport authorities can go a long way in implementing gender equitable public transport. The respective governments can consider providing a mobility subsidy as direct cash transfers to RPW in cities in South Asia, thereby improving their affordability and mode choice. Further, a dedicated team for registering sexual harassment complaints across different modes of transport and providing immediate redressal must be considered within urban local bodies/mobility departments.

Increasing women's role as paratransit owner-operators will improve asset ownership, incomes, and provide safer travel for women across cities in South Asia. However, targeted policy responses, including financial, procedural reforms and safety mechanisms will need to be created.

Finally, equitable mobility must be framed as a constitutional right. Methods to ensure implementation include capacity building of Women's Departments, MBOs, unions, urban development and transport authorities along with increasing gender experts in the latter.
6. Research uptake and next steps

6.1 Project outputs

Project outputs include the final report, an online opinion editorial in a leading publication in India, and an academic paper published in Transportation Research Record Journal.

6.2 Research uptake and dissemination activities

Research uptake and dissemination has been an integral part of our project.

- A round table (Table 2) was convened during the inception stage with 18 participants from feminist networks, unions, and collectives from 4 South Asian countries: Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Pakistan, and India. The goal was to introduce the research objectives, share literature review findings, and gain insights on the pre- and post-COVID-19 mobility context and impact on RPW in South Asia;
- Ten key informant interviews (Table 3) were conducted with transport operators and think tanks, development banks and corporation agencies in India to increase awareness on gender inequity in transport, share preliminary findings on the impact of COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown on RPW's mobility;
- Review of project findings and recommendations by six experts our project advisors, social policy, transport, and technology experts;
- A virtual workshop was organised on 30 March 2021 to disseminate research findings and learnings for cities in India and South Asia. The workshop included 11 discussants (Table 13) and 55 attendees.
- We will also explore publishing the report on the website of the Dialogue and Development Commission, Delhi, the think tank of the Delhi government.

	Name	Organisation	Role
1	Anosha Ejlasi	UN Habitat-Afghanistan	Panellist
2	Laghu Parashar	GIZ India	Panellist
3	Maheen Arif	Karachi Urban Lab	Panellist
4	Ranjit Gadgil	SUMNet	Panellist
5	Smita Premchander	Sampark	Panellist
6	Sujata Mody	Penn Thozhilalargal Sangam (PTS)	Panellist
7	Supriya Jaan	CORO India	Panellist
8	Jasmine Shah	Dialogue and Development Commission, GNCTD	Speaker
9	Amandeep Jhangra	SEWA	Speaker
10	R Minhas	Delhi Transport Corporation	Speaker
11	Kalpana Vishwanath	Safetipin	Speaker

Table 13: Virtual workshop panellists

APPENDIX A: REFERENCES

- 1. UN Women. Addressing the economic fallout of covid-19: pathways and policy options for a gender-responsive recovery. 2020 Jul p. 11.
- UN Women. COVID-19 and its economic toll on women: The story behind the numbers [Internet]. UN Women. [cited 2021 Mar 19]. Available from: https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2020/9/feature-covid-19-economic-impacts-on-women
- More than 68 percent of the employed population in Asia-Pacific are in the informal economy [Internet].
 2018 [cited 2021 Mar 17]. Available from: http://www.ilo.org/asia/mediacentre/news/WCMS_627585/lang--en/index.htm
- Afghanistan_COVID Country profile [Internet]. United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific. [cited 2021 Feb 24]. Available from: https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/d8files/knowledge-products/Afghanistan_COVID %20Country %20profile %20041120.pdf
- 5. CapaCITIES. Assessment of the E-rickshaw operations in Delhi. CapaCITIES; 2018.
- Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation. Periodic Labour Force Survey 2019-2019 [Internet]. Government of India; 2020 June [cited 2021 Mar 8]. Available from: http://mospi.nic.in/sites/default/files/publication_reports/Annual_Report_PLFS_2018_19_HL.pdf
- 7. DUSIB. Delhi Shelter » JJ Bastis Details [Internet]. Delhi Urban Shelter Improvement Board. [cited 2020 Nov 18]. Available from: https://delhishelterboard.in/main/?page_id=3644
- 8. Department of Land & Building. List of urbanized villages. Delhi Government;
- 9. Finkelstein R, Leo G, Lin L, Nadeau CA, Smita R, Fizzah S, et al. The geography of post-eviction resettlement in Delhi, India [Internet]. DRAN. [cited 2020 Dec 7]. Available from: http://mitdisplacement.org/delhi-1
- Sewa Bharat. Sewa Bharat Annual report [Internet]. New Delhi: Sewa Bharat; 2013 [cited 2020 Dec 18] p.
 Available from: https://sewabharat.org/resources/annual-reports/
- 11. WIEGO. Livelihoods: Home-Based Workers.
- 12. DIVA-GIS. Data by country [Internet]. DIVA-GIS. [cited 2020 Dec 7]. Available from: https://www.diva-gis.org/Data
- 13. Gadhwal S. Municipal Spatial Data [Internet]. GitHub. 2018 [cited 2020 Dec 7]. Available from: https://github.com/datameet/Municipal_Spatial_Data
- 14. Chakraborty S. Women Informal Workers: Falling Through the Cracks in the Pandemic [Internet]. The Wire. 2021 [cited 2021 Mar 10]. Available from: https://thewire.in/women/women-informal-workers-covid-19-pandemic-employment
- Chakraborty S. Impact of Covid 19 national lockdown on women informal workers in Delhi [Internet]. Delhi: Institute of Social Studies Trust; 2020 May [cited 2020 Oct 29]. Available from: https://www.isstindia.org/publications/1591186006_pub_compressed_ISST_-_Final_Impact_of_Covid_19_Lockdown_on_Women_Informal_Workers_Delhi.pdf
- 16. Planning Department. Economic Survey of Delhi 2019-20 [Internet]. Available from: http://delhiplanning.nic.in/content/economic-survey-delhi-2019-20

- Fitment of Vehicle Location Tracking Device and Panic Buttons [Internet]. Ministry of Road Transport and Highways; 2018 [cited 2021 Mar 21]. Available from: https://morth.nic.in/sites/default/files/circulars_document/Fitment_of_Vehicle_Location_Tracking.pdf
- Bonnet F, Vanek J, Chen M. Women and Men in the Informal Economy A Statistical Brief [Internet]. Manchester, UK: WEIGO; 2019 p. 32. Available from: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--ed_protect/---protrav/---travail/documents/publication/wcms_711798.pdf
- Azcona G, Bhatt A, Encarnacion J, Plazaola-Castaño J, Seck P, Staab S, et al. From insights to action: gender equality in the wake of covid-19 [Internet]. UN Women; 2020 [cited 2021 Mar 20]. Available from: https://www.unwomen.org/-/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2020/gender-equality-in-the-wake-ofcovid-19-en.pdf?la=en&vs=5142
- 20. Women and men in the informal economy: A statistical picture [Internet]. Geneva: International Labour Office; 2018 [cited 2020 Sep 29]. Available from: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--- dgreports/---dcomm/documents/publication/wcms_626831.pdf
- 21. World employment social outlook, trends for women. Geneva: International Labour Office; 2017 p. 72.
- 22. Martinez D, Mitnik OA, Salgado E, Scholl L, Yañez-Pagans P. Connecting to Economic Opportunity? The Role of Public Transport in Promoting Women's Employment in Lima. 2018;44.
- 23. National Research Council (U.S.), Transportation Research Board. Research in women's issues in transportation: report of a conference. Vol. 2, Technical papers. Washington, DC: TRB; 2005.
- 24. Uteng TP. Gender and mobility in the developing world. World Bank [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2020 Nov 2]; Available from: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/9111 License: CC BY 3.0 IGO.
- 25. Gera K, Hasdell P. The context and experience of mobility among urban marginalised women in New Delhi, India. 2020; Available from: https://dl.designresearchsociety.org/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1116&context=drs-conference-papers
- Uteng T.P, Turner J. Addressing the Linkages between Gender and Transport in Low-and Middle-Income Countries. Sustainability [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2020 Nov 2]; Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/11/17/4555
- 27. Shah S, Raman A. What Do Women and Girls Want from Urban Mobility Systems? [Internet]. OLA mobility Institute; 2019 Mar. Available from: https://olawebcdn.com/ola-institute/ola_women_and_mobility.pdf
- 28. Patacchini E, Zenou Y. Spatial mismatch, transport mode and search decisions in England. J Urban Econ. 2005 Jul 1;58(1):62–90.
- 29. Anand A, Tiwari G. A Gendered Perspective of the Shelter–Transport–Livelihood Link: The Case of Poor Women in Delhi. Transp Rev. 2006 Jan 1;26(1):63–80.
- Rowntree O, Shanahan M. The Mobil Gender Gap Report 2020 [Internet]. GSMA; 2020 [cited 2021 Mar 17]. Available from: https://www.gsma.com/mobilefordevelopment/wpcontent/uploads/2020/05/GSMA-The-Mobile-Gender-Gap-Report-2020.pdf
- ILO Monitor: COVID-19 and the world of work [Internet]. Geneva: International Labour Office; 2020 [cited 2021 Mar 20]. Available from: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/--dcomm/documents/briefingnote/wcms_743146.pdf

- 32. WEIGO. COVID 19 crisis and the informal economy [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2021 Feb 22]. Available from: https://www.wiego.org/publications/covid-19-crisis-and-informal-economy-informal-workers-delhi-india
- 33. Moussié R, Staab S. Three ways to contain COVID-19's impact on informal women workers | UN Women Data Hub [Internet]. UN Women. 2020 [cited 2020 Nov 2]. Available from: https://data.unwomen.org/features/three-ways-contain-covid-19s-impact-informal-women-workers
- Projected poverty impacts of COVID-19 (coronavirus) [Internet]. World Bank. 2020 [cited 2021 Mar 20]. Available from: https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/poverty/brief/projected-poverty-impacts-of-COVID-19
- 35. Public transports to run at full capacity from 1st week of September [Internet]. The Business Standard. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 27]. Available from: https://tbsnews.net/bangladesh/transport/public-transports-run-full-capacity-1st-week-september-125566
- Pradhan TR. Government decides to lift the four-month-long coronavirus lockdown, but with conditions [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Nov 4]. Available from: https://kathmandupost.com/national/2020/07/21/government-decides-to-lift-the-four-month-longcoronavirus-lockdown-but-with-conditions
- Second lockdown amid Covid-19 resurgence in Pakistan "inevitable" [Internet]. BW Businessworld. 2020 [cited 2020 Nov 3]. Available from: http://businessworld.in/article/Second-lockdown-amid-Covid-19resurgance-in-Pakistan-inevitable-/02-11-2020-338496
- 38. Mathew A. Covid-19: Staff at AIIMS, Safdarjung Hospital face transport hassles; no buses for night shift workers [Internet]. National Herald. 2020 [cited 2021 Feb 24]. Available from: https://www.nationalheraldindia.com/india/covid-19-staff-at-aiims-safdarjung-hospital-face-transporthassles-no-buses-for-night-shift-workers
- Barman S. Proposal for restarting Delhi buses: 20 passengers, alternate seats, Aarogya Setu, cashless [Internet]. The Indian Express. 2020 [cited 2021 Feb 24]. Available from: https://indianexpress.com/article/cities/delhi/proposal-for-restarting-delhi-buses-20-passengersalternate-seats-aarogya-setu-cashless-6407353/
- 40. Mamun S. Covid-19: Public transport services struggling for lack of passengers [Internet]. Dhaka Tribune. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 27]. Available from: https://www.dhakatribune.com/bangladesh/2020/06/21/covid-19-public-transport-services-struggling-for-lack-of-passengers
- 41. Final phase of contactless ticketing on Delhi buses to begin on Monday [Internet]. Hindustan Times. 2021 [cited 2021 Mar 20]. Available from: https://www.hindustantimes.com/cities/others/finalphase-ofcontactless-ticketing-on-delhi-buses-to-begin-on-monday-101614535697573.html
- 42. Goswami S. Daily ridership in Delhi's buses down 59% since March [Internet]. Hindustan Times. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 29]. Available from: https://www.hindustantimes.com/cities/daily-ridership-down-59ticket-sales-73-in-delhi-s-buses-shows-govt-data/story-xL7a30Xe8YSIZ2iQPc3mPL.html
- 43. Suman HK, Agarwal A, Bolia NB. Public Transport Operations After Lockdown: How to Make It Happen? Trans Indian Natl Acad Eng. 2020 Jun 1;5(2):149–56.
- 44. Bedi A. Less stops, fewer passengers DTC could need more buses to run services after lockdown [Internet]. ThePrint. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 26]. Available from: https://theprint.in/india/less-stops-fewer-passengers-dtc-could-need-more-buses-to-run-services-after-lockdown/422142/
- 45. The Donor Committee for Enterprise Development. UK Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO) DCED [Internet]. UK Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO). [cited 2021 Mar

15]. Available from: https://www.enterprise-development.org/agency-strategies-and-coordination/uk-department-for-international-development-dfid/

- 46. United Nations. SDG Indicators [Internet]. Sustainable Development Goals. 2015 [cited 2021 Mar 16]. Available from: https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/metadata/?Text=&Goal=&Target=11.2
- 47. UN Women. COVID-19 and women's rights organisations: bridging response gaps and demanding a more just future [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2021 Mar 22]. Available from: https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/policy-brief-covid-19-and-womens-rightsorganisations-en.pdf
- 48. Johnson RB, Onwuegbuzie AJ, Turner LA. Toward a Definition of Mixed Methods Research. J Mix Methods Res. 2007 Apr 1;1(2):112–33.
- 49. Denscombe M. The Good Research Guide: For Small-Scale Social Research Projects. McGraw-Hill Education (UK); 2014. 378 p.
- 50. Cresswell J W, Plano Clark VL. Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research [Internet]. Third. Sage publishing; 2017 [cited 2021 Apr 3]. Available from: https://us.sagepub.com/en-us/nam/designing-and-conducting-mixed-methods-research/book241842
- 51. Reflective and reflexive practice [Internet]. Learning for Sustainability. 2021 [cited 2021 Mar 15]. Available from: https://learningforsustainability.net/reflective-practice/
- 52. World Health Organisation. Advice for the public on COVID-19 [Internet]. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) advice for the public. 2021 [cited 2021 Mar 22]. Available from: https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/advice-for-public
- WIEGO. Livelihoods: Home Based workers [Internet]. Main Bhi Dilli. 2020 [cited 2020 Dec 14]. Available from: https://cfffb016-8be5-47a0-92df-29b0ac9b17b7.filesusr.com/ugd/9be98c_b0a3d6e72fb54f4bacf30321cd6646e6.pdf
- 54. Office of the Registrar General and Census Commissioner. Statistics from population Census 2011 | Labour Commissioner | [Internet]. Government of NCT of Delhi. 2020 [cited 2020 Dec 14]. Available from: https://labour.delhi.gov.in/content/statistics-population-census-2011
- 55. Krishna N. Interview with SMV. 2021.
- 56. Press Trust of India. Hike in Delhi auto-rickshaw fare comes into force on Tuesday. 2019 Jun 18; Available from: https://zeenews.india.com/hike-in-delhi-auto-rickshaw-fare-comes-into-force-on-tuesday-2212339.html
- 57. Transport Department. Public Notice: Auto-rickshaw fare hike [Internet]. Available from: https://transport.delhi.gov.in/sites/default/files/All-PDF/Fare %20Revision %20Auto.pdf
- 58. Legalising e-rickshaws in Delhi: Hindrances persist. 2015 Mar 23; Available from: https://www.indiatvnews.com/news/india/legalising-e-rickshaws-in-delhi-hindrances-persist-48834.html
- 59. The Business Quiz. Delhi's phat-phatiyas were based on Indian and Harley motorcycles. Available from: https://www.thebusinessquiz.com/2014/08/19/ofnosi-newsletter-2/
- Delhi Transport Department. Replacement Policy for Phat-Phat SEWA Scheme [Internet]. Available from: http://web.delhi.gov.in/wps/wcm/connect/338c370045ad657691aff9b6f545cb51/PHAT %2BPHAT %2BSEWA+ %281 %29.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&Imod=-1520205850&CACHEID=338c370045ad657691aff9b6f545cb51

- 61. Gupta S. Revamping Delhi's "Gramin Seva" service. Available from: https://www.downtoearth.org.in/blog/urbanisation/revamping-delhi-s-gramin-seva-service-68587
- 62. Transport Department. Gramin SEWA.
- Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics. Socio-Economic and demographic Report 2012 [Internet]. Ministry of planning; 2012 [cited 2021 Mar 23]. Available from: http://bbs.dhaka.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/bbs.dhaka.gov.bd/law_policy/6ed6b42c_2015_11e7_8f5 7_286ed488c766/Socio-Economic %20and %20demographic %20Report %202012.pdf
- 64. National Statistics and Information Authority, Afghanistan. Afghanistan Statistical Yearbook-2018-19 [Internet]. Islamic Republic of Afghanistan; 2019 [cited 2021 Mar 23]. Available from: https://www.nsia.gov.af:8080/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Afghanistan-Statistical-Yearbook-2018-19_compressed.pdf
- 65. Pakistan Bureau of Statistics. Lahore Provisional summary Census 2017. Government of Pakistan; 2018.
- 66. Central Bureau of Statistics, National Planning Commission, Nepal. Population by district [Internet]. National Planning Commission, Nepal. 2011 [cited 2021 Mar 23]. Available from: https://cbs.gov.np/population-2011/
- 67. Jain D, Tiwari G. How the present would have looked like? Impact of non-motorised transport and public transport infrastructure on travel behaviour, energy consumption and CO2 emissions Delhi, Pune and Patna. Sustain Cities Soc. 2016 Apr 1; 22:1–10.
- 68. Suman HK, Bolia NB, Tiwari G. Comparing public bus transport service attributes in Delhi and Mumbai: Policy implications for improving bus services in Delhi. Transp Policy. 2017 May; 56:63–74.
- 69. Policy Brief: COVID-19 in an Urban World [Internet]. UN; 2020 Jul [cited 2020 Oct 29]. Available from: https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/sg_policy_brief_covid_urban_world_july_2020.pdf
- 70. Lalwani V. In Delhi, more women are taking free bus rides. Is AAP's scheme making them feel the city is safer? [Internet]. Scroll.in. https://scroll.in; [cited 2020 Oct 29]. Available from: https://scroll.in/article/944568/in-delhi-more-women-are-taking-free-bus-rides-is-aaps-scheme-makingthem-feel-the-city-is-safer
- 71. 10 percent rise in female commuters in Delhi's public buses since free-ride scheme launch [Internet]. Business Today. 2019 [cited 2020 Nov 2]. Available from: https://www.businesstoday.in/current/economy-politics/10-rise-in-female-commuters-in-delhi-publicbuses-since-free-ride-scheme-launch/story/390739.html
- 72. Sharma D. Every Bus Ride is Like a War: Delhi Women on Safety Aboard Buses [Internet]. The Quint. 2018 [cited 2020 Oct 29]. Available from: https://www.thequint.com/neon/harassment-women-safety-in-delhi-dtc-buses
- 73. Rahiman R, Suneja D, Verma N. Inclusivity, Gender, and Safety in Mobility [Internet]. New Delhi: TERI; 2018 [cited 2020 Oct 27]. Available from: https://www.teriin.org/sites/default/files/2018-11/Inclusivity-Gender-Safety-in-Mobility.pdf
- 74. Baruah S. All other transport shut, burden of city commute falls on DTC | Cities News, The Indian Express [Internet]. The Indian Express. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 29]. Available from: https://indianexpress.com/article/cities/delhi/coronavirus-india-lockdown-dtc-buses-transport-metro-6330300/

- 75. COVID 19 CSA Regional Factsheet 2020 [Internet]. UNDP-UN Women; 2020 Sep [cited 2020 Oct 22] p. 10. Available from: https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/librarypage/womensempowerment/COVID-19-Global-Gender-Response-Tracker.html
- 76. Pradhan Mantri Jan-Dhan Yojana (PMJDY) National Mission for Financial Inclusion, completes six years of successful implementation [Internet]. Press Information Bureau. 2020 [cited 2020 Dec 14]. Available from: pib.gov.in/Pressreleaseshare.aspx?PRID=1649091
- 77. Roy S. Delhi buses may be allowed to carry more passengers | Delhi News Times of India [Internet]. The Times of India. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 29]. Available from: https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/delhi/buses-may-be-allowed-to-carry-morepassengers/articleshow/77622350.cms
- 78. Goswami S. Rush at stops defeats social distancing in Delhi buses [Internet]. Hindustan Times. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 26]. Available from: https://www.hindustantimes.com/india-news/rush-at-stops-defeats-distancing-in-delhi-buses/story-3kKcnggCGi5OfeyREmiqWI.html
- 79. Parashar L. Standard Operating Procedures for Bus Transport post-COVID19Lockdown [Internet]. ITDP; 2020 [cited 2020 Dec 14]. Available from: https://www.sutp.org/wp-content/uploads/Standard-Operating-Procedures-SOPs-for-Bus-Transport-post-COVID19-Lockdown.pdf
- Dhole A, Kumaran K, Singh V, Jayaraman S. COVID Response: Post-lockdown Guidelines for Bus Operations - [Internet]. ITDP India. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 27]. Available from: https://www.itdp.in/postcovid-lockdown-guidelines-for-bus-operations/
- 81. Venkat K, Maiti S, Bhatt A, Kanuri C, Kharwal S, Diwan P, et al. COVID 19 safety measures for public bus operations in India [Internet]. World Resources Institute; 2020 [cited 2020 Dec 14]. Available from: https://www.wri-india.org/sites/default/files/Comm1_COVID_Response_Bus.pdf
- 82. Agarwal OP, Bhatt SP. Resilience & Transportation Webinar Series: Lessons from India while responding to COVID-19. :51.
- 83. N P, Bailey PA. Bus travel in times of COVID: How BMTC can accommodate senior citizens [Internet]. Citizen Matters, Bengaluru. 2020 [cited 2020 Nov 3]. Available from: https://bengaluru.citizenmatters.in/elderly-bmtc-user-friendliness-covid-fares-affordability-bus-sheltersinfrastructure-frequency-50456
- 84. Delhi buses to run with full capacity from Nov 1; face mask mandatory, standing not allowed [Internet]. Hindustan Times. 2020 [cited 2020 Nov 3]. Available from: https://www.hindustantimes.com/delhinews/delhi-buses-to-run-with-full-capacity-from-nov-1-face-mask-mandatory-standing-notallowed/story-TaDDB8cCfCauJgymn3pi0H.html
- 85. Contactless e-ticketing on Delhi buses from November: Gahlot [Internet]. Hindustan Times. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 26]. Available from: https://www.hindustantimes.com/cities/contactless-e-ticketing-on-delhibuses-from-november-gahlot/story-blg8WSgBIN9FIWSISSGJEN.html
- Mamun S. Covid-19: Public transport services struggling for lack of passengers [Internet]. Dhaka Tribune.
 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 29]. Available from: https://www.dhakatribune.com/bangladesh/2020/06/21/covid-19-public-transport-services-struggling-for-lack-of-passengers
- 87. Rahman MS-U. Bus Service for 'Women Only' in Dhaka City: An Investigation. J Bangladesh Inst Plan. 2010; 3:17.
- Hassan M, Hossain A, Wescott C. Urban Bus Operations in Dhaka [Internet]. World Bank; 2009 Jul [cited 2021 Mar 22]. Available from:

http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/pt/797631467998806501/pdf/693780BRI0P1080Bus0Operations0final.pdf

- 89. Rahman S. A city unfit for working women [Internet]. The Business Standard. 2020 [cited 2020 Nov 3]. Available from: https://tbsnews.net/panorama/city-unfit-working-women-54241
- 90. OOCL BCP progress & BAN COVID-19 Update as of September 01, 2020 [Internet]. [cited 2020 Oct 27]. Available from: https://www.oocl.com/bangladesh/eng/localinformation/localnews/2020/Pages/BCPprogress-&-BAN-COVID-19-Update-as-of-September-01,-2020.aspx?site=bangladesh&lang=eng
- Public Transport: Pre-Covid fare, health rules not followed [Internet]. The Daily Star. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 27]. Available from: https://www.thedailystar.net/frontpage/news/public-transport-pre-covid-fare-health-rules-not-followed-1954377
- Post-shutdown bus services: Guidelines followed in Dhaka city only [Internet]. The Business Standard.
 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 30]. Available from: https://tbsnews.net/bangladesh/road-transport/post-shutdown-bus-services-guidelines-followed-dhaka-city-only-87574
- 93. Solotaroff JL, Kotikula A, Lonnberg T, Ali S, Pande R, Jahan F. Voices to choices: Bangladesh's journey in women's economic empowerment. International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank; 2019. 285 p.
- 94. Sarkar S. For more women-only buses [Internet]. The Financial Express. 2019 [cited 2020 Oct 30]. Available from: https://thefinancialexpress.com.bd/views/for-more-women-only-buses-1555776933
- 95. Das T. Huge demand, yet empty buses [Internet]. The Business Standard. 2019 [cited 2020 Oct 30]. Available from: https://tbsnews.net/feature/huge-demand-yet-empty-buses
- 96. Ahadi MW. Kabul city transportation system analysis and the short-term and long-term transportation planning & policy [Internet] [PhD Thesis]. KDI School; 2020. Available from: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/323271286.pdf
- 97. Farzam A. Transport Connectivity During and After COVID 19 in Afghanistan [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 28]. Available from: https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/Afghanistan-25July.pdf
- 98. Habibzai AJ. Afghanistan Green Urban Transport Strategy Abdullah Habibzai [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2020 Oct 30]. Available from: http://www.afghanengineers.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Afghanistan-Green-Urban-Transport-Strategy-Abdullah-Habibzai.pdf
- 99. Habibzai A, Habibzai S, Sun C. A Overview of Transportation in Kabul City, Afghanistan 1 2. 2020 Oct 30; Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Shabnam_Habibzai/publication/265322344_A_Overview_of_Trans portation_in_Kabul_City_Afghanistan_1_2/links/5760d4ea08ae2b8d20eb685e/A-Overview-of-Transportation-in-Kabul-City-Afghanistan-1-2.pdf
- 100. Darjes PC. Afghanistan transport sector master plan update, 2017-2036. Mandaluyong City, Metro Manila, Philippines: Asian Development Bank; 2017. 65 p.
- 101. "Pink Shuttle" buses help Afghan women navigate conservative society- The New Indian Express [Internet]. [cited 2020 Nov 3]. Available from: https://www.newindianexpress.com/world/2019/nov/27/pink-shuttle-buses-help-afghan-womennavigate-conservative-society-2067938.html

- 102. UN Habitat. Urban Transportation in Afghanistan [Internet]. Expert group meeting; 2013 Nov 5 [cited 2020 Oct 30]; Japan. Available from: http://www.fukuoka.unhabitat.org/kcap/activities/egm/2013/pdf/egm10_en.pdf
- 103. Pink Shuttle. The only all-female transportation service in Afghanistan. [Internet]. Nove Onlus. 2019 [cited 2020 Oct 30]. Available from: https://www.noveonlus.org/en/startup-pink-shuttle-driving-schoolkabul/
- 104. Coronavirus: Afghanistan approves plan to impose lockdown in Kabul | Headlines [Internet]. Devdiscourse. 2020 [cited 2020 Nov 3]. Available from: https://www.devdiscourse.com/article/headlines/979933-coronavirus-afghanistan-approves-plan-toimpose-lockdown-in-kabul
- 105. United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs. AFGHANISTAN Humanitarian Access Snapshot (May 2020) [Internet]. 2020. Available from: https://reliefweb.int/report/afghanistan/afghanistan-humanitarian-access-snapshot-may-2020
- 106. United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs. AFGHANISTAN Humanitarian Access Snapshot (July 2020) [Internet]. 2020. Available from: https://reliefweb.int/report/afghanistan/afghanistan-humanitarian-access-snapshot-july-2020
- 107. Asian Development Bank. Preparing the Lahore Rapid Mass Transit System Project [Internet]. Asian Development Bank; 2008 Mar [cited 2021 Mar 22] p. 40. Available from: https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/project-document/65194/40573-pak-rrp.pdf
- 108. JICA. The project for Lahore urban transport master plan in the Islamic Republic of Pakistan [Internet]. JICA; 2012 Mar [cited 2021 Mar 22]. Available from: https://openjicareport.jica.go.jp/pdf/12068110_01.pdf
- 109. Sajjad F, Anjum GA, Field E, Vyborny K. Gender equity in transport planning Improving women's access to public transport in Pakistan [Internet]. International Growth Centre; 2017 Mar. Available from: https://www.theigc.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Sajadd-et-al-policy-paper-2017_1.pdf
- 110. Buneri A. KP govt shuts down pink bus service due to lack of interest | Pakistan Today [Internet]. Pakistan Today. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 30]. Available from: https://www.pakistantoday.com.pk/2020/05/31/kp-govt-shuts-down-pink-bus-service-due-to-lack-of-interest/
- 111. Niaz K. Pakistan- Pink bus service for women in Mardan heading towards failure [Internet]. MENAFN. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 30]. Available from: https://menafn.com/1099585514/Pakistan-Pink-bus-servicefor-women-in-Mardan-heading-towards-failure
- 112. COVID-19: Unlike Punjab, Sindh and Balochistan continue public transport ban [Internet]. Geo News. 2020 [cited 2020 Nov 3]. Available from: https://www.geo.tv/latest/288665-covid-19-unlike-punjab-sindh-and-balochistan-continue-public-transport-ban
- 113. Balochistan allows resumption of public transport from today [Internet]. DAWN. 2020 [cited 2020 Nov 3]. Available from: https://www.dawn.com/news/1561997
- 114. Public transport resumes in Sindh [Internet]. The Nation. 2020 [cited 2020 Nov 3]. Available from: https://nation.com.pk/03-Jun-2020/public-transport-resumes-in-sindh
- 115. JICA. Urban transport improvement for Kathmandu valley [Internet]. Federal Democratic Republic of Nepal; 2017 May. Available from: https://openjicareport.jica.go.jp/pdf/12289674.pdf

- 116. UN Habitat. Public Transportation in Kathmandu Valley Restructuring and Reforming the System [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2020 Nov 4] p. 8. Available from: http://www.cen.org.np/uploaded/Public %20Transportation %20in %20KV_Maya %20Factsheet %204.pdf
- 117. Udas S. Public Transport Quality Survey [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2020 Nov 4] p. 57. Available from: http://www.cen.org.np/uploaded/Public %20Transport %20Survey %20report.pdf
- 118. Subedi A. Sexual harassment in public transportation is rampant, but few victims speak out [Internet]. My Republica. 2020. Available from: https://myrepublica.nagariknetwork.com/news/sexual-harassmentin-public-transportation-is-rampant-but-few-victims-speak-out/
- 119. Thapa G. Women-only bus service draws mixed response [Internet]. The Kathmandu Post. 2015 [cited 2020 Nov 4]. Available from: https://kathmandupost.com/valley/2015/01/12/women-only-bus-service-draws-mixed-response
- 120. Ojha A. Consumer rights activists, commuters criticise public transport fare hike [Internet]. The Kathmandu Post. 2020 [cited 2020 Nov 4]. Available from: https://kathmandupost.com/national/2020/07/12/consumer-rights-activists-commuters-criticise-publictransport-fare-hike
- 121. Govt issues public transport operation guideline [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 30]. Available from: https://thehimalayantimes.com/nepal/govt-issues-public-transport-operation-guideline/
- 122. Suhrawardi R. Collapse of Bangladesh's Garment Industry During Coronavirus Leaves Its Workers More Vulnerable Than Ever [Internet]. Forbes. [cited 2020 Dec 17]. Available from: https://www.forbes.com/sites/rebeccasuhrawardi/2020/03/30/collapse-of-bangladeshs-garmentindustry-leaves-its-workers-more-vulnerable-than-ever-during--coronavirus/
- 123. Ration Card Online [Internet]. Ration Card Agent. [cited 2021 Apr 5]. Available from: https://rationcardagent.co.in/
- 124. Transport Department. Gramin Sewa scheme [Internet]. Government of NCT of Delhi; [cited 2020 Dec 18]. Available from: https://transport.delhi.gov.in/sites/default/files/All-PDF/agrmain2.pdf
- 125. Office of the Registrar General & Census Commissioner, India. Population Enumeration Data (Final Population) [Internet]. Census of India. 2011 [cited 2020 Dec 7]. Available from: https://censusindia.gov.in/2011census/population_enumeration.html
- 126. What is Aadhaar? [Internet]. Unique Identification Authority of India | Government of India. [cited 2020 Dec 9]. Available from: https://www.uidai.gov.in/16-english-uk/aapka-aadhaar/14-what-is-aadhaar.html
- 127. Kumar P. Petrol, Diesel Prices Today: Check Latest Fuel Rates in India On November 17. News Nation [Internet]. 2019 Nov 17; Available from: https://english.newsnationtv.com/business/news/petrol-pricetoday-diesel-rate-check-fuel-rate-on-november-17-in-india-delhi-cng-rate-244360.html
- 128. Good Returns. CNG Price in NCR. Available from: https://www.goodreturns.in/cng-price-in-ncr.html
- 129. Ministry of Road Transport and Highways. Vahan Dashboard [Internet]. Available from: https://vahan.parivahan.gov.in/vahan4dashboard/
- 130. Transport Department. Total Vehicles registered in Delhi upto 31.03.2018.
- 131. Transport Department. Delhi Electric Vehicles Policy [Internet]. Government of National Capital Territory of Delhi; 2020 [cited 2021 Jan 20]. Available from: https://transport.delhi.gov.in/sites/default/files/All-PDF/Delhi_Electric_Vehicles_Policy_2020.pdf

- 132. Mission & Approach [Internet]. Mahila Housing Trust. [cited 2021 Feb 23]. Available from: https://www.mahilahousingtrust.org/about/mission-and-approach/
- 133. Roy S. Third eye to make bus ride safer for women in Delhi [Internet]. The Times of India. 2020 [cited 2021 Feb 23]. Available from: https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/delhi/third-eye-to-make-bus-ride-safer-for-women/articleshow/79069565.cms
- 134. Delhi: DTC app to help you file complaint on spot | Delhi News Times of India [Internet]. The Times of India. 2019 [cited 2021 Feb 20]. Available from: https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/delhi/dtc-app-to-help-you-file-complaint-on-spot/articleshow/67983580.cms
- 135. Now, complain via SMS against public transport | Goa News Times of India [Internet]. The Times of India. [cited 2021 Feb 16]. Available from: https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/goa/now-complainvia-sms-against-public-transport/articleshow/30755241.cms
- 136. K T V. Dial 1077 or SMS to register complaints on auto/ bus fare | Mangaluru News Times of India [Internet]. The Times of India. 2015 [cited 2021 Feb 17]. Available from: https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/mangaluru/dial-1077-or-sms-to-register-complaints-on-auto/bus-fare/articleshow/46176001.cms
- 137. Chaudhary R. Enabling Home-based Work through the Delhi Master Plan: A Technical report by Main Bhi Dilli Campaign [Internet]. Main Bhi Dilli Campaign. 2020 [cited 2021 Feb 22]. Available from: https://cfffb016-8be5-47a0-92df-29b0ac9b17b7.filesusr.com/ugd/9be98c_85e2a2cb1a644c8a9c570c96472a80df.pdf
- 138. Chaudhary R. Enabling Street Vending through the Delhi Master Plan: A Technical report by Main Bhi Dilli Campaign [Internet]. Main Bhi Dilli Campaign. 2020 [cited 2021 Feb 22]. Available from: https://cfffb016-8be5-47a0-92df-29b0ac9b17b7.filesusr.com/ugd/9be98c_aff324d247674e66819d20b7f91554a4.pdf
- 139. Livelihood: Domestic workers. Main Bhi Dilli; 2020.
- 140. DTC. WOMEN SAFETY .pptx.
- 141. Task Force for Women's Safety in Public Transport. Action Plan to strengthen the bus marshals Scheme in the NCT of Delhi [Internet]. Dialogue and Development Commission; 2019 Jul [cited 2021 Feb 17]. Available from: https://ddc.delhi.gov.in/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Task-force_Bus-Marshal-draft-Report.pdf
- 142. Calnek-Sugin T, Heeckt C. Mobility for the Masses: The essential role of informal transport in the COVID-19 recovery [Internet]. The London School of Economics and Political Science. 2021 [cited 2021 Feb 16]. Available from: https://www.lse.ac.uk/Cities/publications/blogs/Mobility-for-the-Masses.aspx
- 143. Prasad N. Big relief for Delhi Metro commuters! DMRC extends e-rickshaw services to 12 more stations; list here. The Financial Express [Internet]. 2020 Feb 23 [cited 2021 Feb 17]; Available from: https://www.financialexpress.com/infrastructure/big-relief-for-delhi-metro-commuters-dmrc-extends-erickshaw-services-to-12-more-stations-list-here/1874140/
- 144. Delhi ICDS project Anganwadi centres [Internet]. Dept. of Women & Child Development. 2018 [cited 2021 Feb 17]. Available from: http://www.wcddel.in/icds.html
- 145. Programme Evaluation Organisation. A quick evaluation study of Anganwadis.pdf. Niti Ayog; 2015.
- 146. WIEGO. Exploring the Model of Multipurpose Community Centres: A Technical report by Main Bhi Dilli Campaign [Internet]. Main Bhi Dilli. 2020 [cited 2021 Feb 22]. Available from: https://cfffb016-8be5-47a0-92df-29b0ac9b17b7.filesusr.com/ugd/9be98c_d6ffd8597c2949e393e70c378933b03c.pdf

- 147. Transport Department. E-Rickshaws Road Restriction.pdf [Internet]. Government of National Capital Territory of Delhi; 2014 [cited 2021 Feb 13]. Available from: https://transport.delhi.gov.in/sites/default/files/All-PDF/E-Rickshaws %2B %28Road %2BRestriction %29.pdf
- 148. ILO. ILO Thesaurus (ILO Library) [Internet]. International Labour Organisation. [cited 2021 Apr 3]. Available from: https://www.ilo.org/inform/online-information-resources/terminology/thesaurus/lang-en/index.htm
- 149. Jennings G, Behrens R. The case for investing in paratransit strategies for regulation and reform.
 [Internet]. The case for investing in paratransit strategies for regulation and reform.; 2017 May [cited 2021 Apr 5]. Available from: http://www.vref.se/download/18.162aeb5015e73a8dc15e5e92/1506333871611/Investing+in+Paratransi t+-+Jennings %26Behrens+-+August+2017.pdf

APPENDIX B: WORK PLAN

SNO	TASK TITLE						
	TOTAL WEEKS	OCTOBER 1 2 3	NOVEMBER 4 5 6 7	DECEMBER 8 9 10 11 12	JANUARY 13 14 15 16	FEBRUARY 17 18 19 20	MARCH 21 22 23 24 25
1	Date Incention Report	16 23 30	6 12 20 27	4 11 18 25 31	8 15 22 29	5 12 19 26	5 12 19 26 31
1.1	Rapid desk-based research						
1.1.1	Literature review						
1.1.2	Monthly report						
1.2	Small group discussion with feminist						
1.2.1	Prepare invitee list						
1.2.2	Preparation of closed online round table						
1.2.3	Send out invites with brief literature review						
1.2.4	Closed online round table with feminist						
	Transcription of meetings: Preperation of						
1.2.5	short document						
1.3	practitioners and influencers						
1.3.1	Prepare invitee list						
1.3.2	Preparation of one on one meeting programme and agenda						
100	Send out invites with brief literature review						
1.3.3	attached						
1.3.4	Transcription of meetings: Preperation of						
1.3.5.	short document						
1.4	Prenare invitee list						
1.4.1	Preparation of one on one meeting						
1.4.2	programme and agenda						
1.4.3	Send out invites with brief literature review attached						
			_				
1.4.4	Transcription of meetings: Preperation of						
1.4.5	short document						
1.5	Submit the Inception Report						
2 1	Conduct sex-disaggregated passenger						
2.1	counts and IPT vehicle counts						
2.1.1	Conduct survey						
2.2	Survey design and testing						
2.2	Creation of online and telephonic survey						
2.2.1	Online and telephonic survey testing						
2.2.2							
2.2.3	Design of in depth interview						
2.3	Conduct telephone surveys						
2.4	Conduct online surveys						
2.5	Conduct in-depth interviews						
3	Analysis and recommendations						
3.1	Pata analysis and preliminary recommendations						
3.1.1	Data cleansing						
312	Data analysis						
2.2	Conduct an online focus group meeting						
3.2	Send invities with brief on data analysis and f	 indings					
3,3.2	Preparation of online focus group programme	and agenda					
3.2.3	Online focus group meeting						
3.3	Interviews with decision makers						
3.3.1	Send invities with brief on data analysis and						
333	Preparation of meeting programme and						
3.3.2	agenda Interviews with decision makers						
	Revise the recommendations edit and						
3.4	compose the report						
	Review and edit recommendations report						
	Composition of report						
4	Outreach						
4.1	Online release of the publication						
4.1.1 4.1.2	Edit and compose publication report						
	Publish an opinion-editorial in a leading						
4.2	Publication						
5	Compile and submit a project completion						
5.1	report						
5.1.1	First dratt of project completion report						
5.1.2	no eur project completion report						

APPENDIX C: ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are grateful to our project advisors:

- Kalpana Viswanath, Safetipin;
- Lizette Soria, Former UN Women;
- O P Agarwal, WRI; and
- Sharmin Nasreen, University of Asia-Pacific.

We are indebted to Namita Malik and Amandeep Jhangra from SEWA Bharat for facilitating the in-depth interviews with women workers and brainstorming recommendations.

We are grateful to experts from India and globally for their time in participating in the reviews, round table, virtual workshop:

- Abhijit Sengupta, Abis consultants;
- Anosha Ejlasi, UN-Habitat;
- Gautam Bhan, IIHS;
- Gerald Olivier, World Bank;
- Gunjan Bihari, Centre for Catalysing Change;
- Laghu Parashar, GIZ;
- Maheen Arif, Karachi Urban Lab;
- R Minhas, DTC;
- Ranjit Gadgil, Parisar;
- Roshan Mashal, Afghan Women's Network;
- Kanika Kalra, IUT;
- Nasheeba Saleem, Asian Development Bank;
- Naveen Krishna, SMV Green Solutions;
- Nazma Akter, Awaj Foundation;
- Premila V, Sampark;
- Rajnish Ahuja, AFD;
- Ravi Gadepalli, Independent Consultant;
- Riti Ahsan, Bangladesh Mohila Samity;
- Ruksana Rashid, Independent Consultant;
- Samir Sharma, DIMTS;
- Seher Afseen, Oxfam Pakistan;
- Selina Ahmed, Bangladesh Rural Advancement Committee;
- Shalini Sinha, WEIGO;
- Sharmin Nasreen, University of Asia Pacific;
- Shiney Chakraborty, ISST;
- Shirish Mahendru, GIZ;
- Shreya Gadepalli, ITDP;

- Smita Premchander, Sampark;
- Sitara Ahsanullah, Bangladesh Mohila Samity;
- Sujata Mody, Penn Thozhilalargal Sangam; and
- Supriya Jaan, CORO.

We warmly thank Manisha Sharma, The Urban Catalysts for her research and analytical contributions to the project and Neha Bajaj and Sukanksha Agrawal, The Urban Lab, for participating in and summarising the findings of our round table and virtual workshop. Finally, we appreciate project management support by Sviti Pabari and Louise Cathro.

Sonal Shah

The Urban Catalysts Mumbai 400056 Tel: +91 9820280709 Email: sonal.urbancatalyst@gmail.com Web: https://www.theurbancatalysts.org/